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%ﬁ%lg& U.S. DI RICT JUDGE

The Court presided over a fagay jury trial from October 7, 2019 to October 11, 2019.
(SeeD.I. 537 1 2seealsoD.l. 632, 633, 634, 635 & 636). At the end, the jury found Defendants
Essentiv LLC (“Essenty”), Decco U.S. Podtlarvest, Inc. (“Decco U.S. PosHarvest”)
Cerexagri, Inc. d/b/a Decco Pdsarvest(“Cerexagri’}t and UPL, Ltd.(“UPL”) (collectively
“Defendants”) to have willfully misappropriatédur of Plaintiff AgroFresh Inc.’s (“Plautiff” or
“AgroFresh”) trade secretswillfully infringed an AgroFresh patenéand engaged in unfair
competition, intentional interference with contracts and a business relgtionshversion and
conspiracy.Presently before the CowateDefendantsrenewed motiorfor judgment as a matter
of law (D.l. 596) and Plaintiff's motionsfor enhanced damagéb.l. 587) and preand post
judgment interest (D.I589). For the reasons set forth below, the Court will giafgart and
denyin-part Defendants’ motion fgudgment as a matter of lawleny Plaintiff's motion for
enhanced damages and grafintiff’s motion for pre- and pogtxdgment interest.

l. BACKGROUND

Now in its fifth year, this caseepresents &ercely contested fightfilled with animosity
andacrimony Plaintiff and Defendants are in thagriculture business and provide products that
preserve the freshness of certain produce. Plaintiff's SmartFresh, vdsdieen marketed in the
United States since 2002, containsnéthylcyclopropene (“MCP”), a compoundhat delays
ripening by inhibithg produce respons® ethylene (a natural byproduct that causes ripening).

(SeeD.I. 519, Ex. 1 T 6-7). For a limited time in 201:2017,Defendants marketetieir own 1-

Essentiv, Decco U.S. Peldiarvest and Cerexagare sometimes referred to collectively as
“Decco.” (SeeD.l. 575 at 11).
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MCP containing producifruPick It is TruPick and its development that are at the heart of this
case.

Plaintiff originally filed this caseagainstMirTech, Inc., Nazir Mir, Essentiv, Decco U.S.
PostHarvest and Cerexagseeking declarations of ownership over certain intellectual property
rights andasserting claims dfreach of contract, tortious conduct and patent infringem&se
generallyD.l. 2). Dr. Mir had beerAgroFresh’stechnical consultardan 1-MCP for yearsbut, in
2014 while still working with AgroFresh, he began working with Decco U.S.-Plastestand
Essentiv tdhelp themdevelop their own 1-MCP produdte., TruPicK.?2 Many of the allegations
in the original Complaint (and the resulting causes of action) relatdte failed relationship
between Plaintiff and Dr. Miand MirTech, Inc(“the MirTech Defendant}. (See, e.gid. 11 3
4; see also idat Counts | & IV). Pursuant to the parties’ joint request (D.l. 18), on October 12,
2016, Judge Robinsdmifurcated the claims relating to ownership of U.S. Patent No. 9,394,216
(“the '216 Patent”) and fraudulent inducement based on the parties’ representataautbasg
those claims first would simplify and clarify the disputed issues.

In March 2017, Judge Robinsteld a bench triabn Counts | and 1V. SeeD.I. 94, 95 &

96). The court’s postrial opinion issued on June 30, 201{D.l. 97). In thatopinion, Judge
Robinson concluded that the '216 Patent, whitthms 1-MCP complexeswith metatorganic
frameworks (“MOFs”) had beemutomatically assigned to Plaintiff pursuant to its agreement with

Dr. Mir* and that Dr. Mir had fraudulently induced Plaintiff into an extension of that agreement.

2 Essentiv was a joint venture between Decco U.S-Rastest and MirTech to pursue 1
MCP products. $eeD.I. 519, Ex. 1  5see alsdTXb-491).

8 This case was assigned to the undersigned judge on August 27, 2018.

4 The agreement provided that improvements to certain products (incluéii¢Plrelated

products) would automatically be assigned to Plaintifeg, e.g.D.l. 97 at 18-20).
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(SeeD.l. 97 at 3334;see alsd.l. 98 (jJudgment on Counts | and IV to be entered at the conclusion
of the case)).The ruling meantthat DeccdJ.S. PostHarvestand Essentiv had no ownership in
or rights tothe '216 Patent or relatettMCP technologydespite theiown contracts with the
MirTech Defendants.

On August 18, 2017, Plaintiff filed its First Amended Complaasserting claims against
the original defendantssavell asan additional defendantJPL. (SeeD.l. 106). In the First
Amended Complaint, Plaintiff added claims arising under the Defend Trade SextrE3FSA”)
and the Pennsylvantdniform Trade Secrets Act (“PUTSA”"), as well as a number of other causes
of action for tortious interference with Plaintiff’'s contracts or business relationshij@ee (
generallyid.). On September 15, 2017, Plaintiff and the MirTech Defendants entered into a
settlement agreement (D.I. 178, Ex.aWd a consent judgment, which “establish[ed] liability” for
all counts asserted against the MirTech Defendants in the First Amended @oifipla 115).

The MirTech Defendants were dismissed on January 2, 2da¥ngthe current Defendanta

the case On February 18, 2019, Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint that ass#ded
competition, unjust enrichment, DTSA and PUTSA violations, various acts of tortious
interference, conversioandcivil conspiracy as well as direct, indirect and vl infringement

of the '216 Patent and U.S. Patent Nos. 6,017,849 (“the 849 Patent”) and 6,313,068 (“the '068
Patent”) (SeegenerallyD.l. 412;see alsd.l. 519 { 10).

From October 7 2019 to October 11, 2019, the Court presided over a juigl.
(SeeD.1. 537 | 2see alsd.l. 632, 633, 634, 635 & 636 The jury found that Plaintiff held trade
secrets infour technologies ifs gas generator, gas sampler, testing protocols and treatment
parameters but Plaintiff did not possess trade secrets in its treatment tents or informatiioig rela

to the '216 Patent. (D.l. 578 at 2). The jury further foundDedéendantsvillfully and maliciously
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misappropriated the trade secrets Plaintiff held igats generator, gas sampler, testing protocols
and treatment parameterdd.(at 3). The jury also found that Defendants were liable for unfair
competition, intentional interference with the MirTeatreements and business relationship,
intentional interérence with Plaintiffs customer contracts and conversiond. 4t 45).
Defendants were found not liable for intentional interference with prospebiisiness
relationships. Ifl. at4). As to civil conspiracy, the jury found that Decco was liablecfoit
conspiracy (with UPL and/or Dr. Mir) as to trade secret misappropriation, unfapetition,
intentional interference witthe MirTechagreements and business relationship and intentional
interference with customer contracts, as well as convergidnat5). As to the same claimie

jury found that UPL was liable for civil conspiracy with Decco (and/or Dr. Mir) onlyoas t
intentional interference witthe MirTech agreements and business relationship and intentional
interference with customeontracts. Id.). Finally, the jury found that Decco willfully infringed
claim 1 of the '849 Patent and that clalmvas not invalid. (Id. at6).

The jury awarded Plaintiff $6,000,000 in compensatory damages for actual loss caused by
Defendants’ patent infringement, trade secret misappropriation, unfair coarpeatitentional
interference witithe MirTech agreements and business relationship and intentional interference
with customer contracts, conversion and civil conspiracy. (D.l. 578 ath@.jury found that
Defendants had been unjustly enriched by the trade secret misappropriation and awentiféd Pla
$1,013,000 for that unjust enrichmenfld.). The jury also awarded $24,000,000 in punitive

damages against Defendants based on unfair competition, intentional interfesiémdbe

5 Prior to trial,the issue of infringement of the '216 Patent was stayed pending resolution of
inter partesreview proceedings. (D.l. 457 Plaintiff also dropped allclaims of
infringement for the068 Patentand all but one asserted claiime( claim 1) of the’849
Patent (SeeD.l. 567).
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MirTech agreements and business relationship and intentional interfererttecustomer
contracts, conversion and/or civil conspirackd.)(

On October 30, 2019, the Court entered judgment on the jury verdict under Rule 58(b) of
theFederal Rulsof Civil Procedure. $eeD.l. 586. On November 8, 2019, Plaintiff moved for
enhanced damagesx€D.l. 587 & 588)and, on November 11, 2019, Plaintifbvedfor pre and
postjudgment interestsgeD.l. 589, 590& 591). On November 27, 201®efendants renewed
theirmotion for judgmenas a matter of law(SeeD.l. 596 & 597. Briefing on posttrial motions
wascompleted on January 7, 202&e€D.l. 594, 598, 602, 603, 605, 606, 68516).° On May
27, 2020, the Court heard oral argument on the pi@stmotions.

Il. LEGAL STANDARDS

Judgment as a matter of law maydmeredagainsta nonmoving party if the Court “finds
that a reasonable jury would not have a legally sufficient evidentiary basis to fihe foerty on
[an]issue.” FED. R.Civ. P.50(a)(1). Judgment as a matter of lasvappropriatéonly if, viewing
theevidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant and giving it the advantage of every fair
and reasonable inference, there is insufficient evidence from which a jsoneddy could find
liability.” Lightning Lube, Inc. v. Witco Corp4 F.3d 11531166 (3d Cir. 1993). Entry of
judgment as a matter of law is a remedy to be invakdy “sparingly.” CGB Occupational
Therapy, Inc. v. RHA Health Servs. |i857 F.3d 375, 383 (3d Cir. 2004).

Following a jury trial, a renewed motion for judgment asadten of law under Rul&0(b)
may be granted only if the movant demonstrates “that the jury’s findings, presumed or express,

are not supported by substantial evidence or, if they were, that the legal conclusipligsl) [by]

6 Plaintiff also filed a motion for a permanent injunction (D.l. 599) that it Maidrdrew
(D.1. 622).
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the jury’s verdict cannot in law be supported by those findingafnu v. lolab Corp.155 F.3d
1344, 1348 (Fed. Cir. 1998) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omi@eb¥tantial
evidence is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept a®ddesgyuiort the
finding under review.SeeEnplas Display Device Corp. v. Seoul Semiconductor F.3d
398, 407 (Fed. Cir. 20)8In determining whether fstantial evidencesupports the jury verdict

the Court may not make credibility determinations, weigh the evidensehstitute its own
conclusionsfor that of the jury where the record evidence supports multiple inferences
Seelightning Lube4 F.3d at 1166.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Trade Secret Misappropriation

As noted above, the jury found that Plaintiff possessed trade secrets in its gawgenera
gas sampler, testing protocols and treatment parameters and that Defentfutiys and
maliciously misappropriated each of those trade secr&seD(l. 578 at 23). To prevail on a
claim of trade secret misappropriation, Plaintiff must prove “acquisitionratia secret of another
by a person who knows or has reason to know that the trade secret was acquired by improper
means” or the “disclosure or use” of the trade secret by “improper means” oistahsorily

proscribed conductSeel8 U.S.C. § 1893(5); 1PA. CON. STAT. ANN. § 53027 A necessary

Plaintiff asserted claims of trade secret misappropriation under both PUi&Aha
DTSA. Given the overlap between statopted versions of the Uarm Trade Secrets
Act and the DTSA, courts often analyze parallel state and federal claims obt@ee
misappropriation togetheSee, e.gFreedom Med. Inc. v. WhitmaB43 F. Supp. 3d 509,
518 n.6(E.D. Pa. 2018)Teva Pharm. USA, Inc. 8andhy291 F. Supp. 3d 659, 675 (E.D.
Pa. 2018)see also/eronica Foods Co. v. EckliiNo. 16-07223-JCS, 2017 WL 2806706,
at *13 (N.D. Cal. June 29, 2017). Although the DTSA adds an additional requirement
use in interstate or foreign commere¢he paties stipulated that that element was met.
(D.I. 553). The jury rendered its verdict based on the language of DTSA, but peittyer
argues that PUTSA would lead to a different result (whether for or agaireshd2efts).
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predicateis a showing that Plaintiffossessed a trade secret, information that the owner has

taken reasonable measures to keep secrethahderives independent economic value from not
being generally known or readily ascertainable by proper means (and can provide economic value
to the misappropriator through use or disclosui®¢el8 U.S.C. 8§ 183(3); 12 PA. CON. STAT.

ANN. 8§ 5302.

Defendants move for judgment as a matter of faat Plaintiff failed to prove that it
possessed trade secrets ids generator, gas sampler, testing prot@udéreatment parameters
and, furtherthat Plaintiff failed to prove that Defendants misappropriated any of ttrase
secrets. $eeD.l. 597at2-10). The Court addresses each trade secret in turn.

1. Gas Generator

The gas generator is a thfe®t tall container developed by Plaintiff thategsan “air
infusion mechanism” to facilitate the releasfel-MCP into a room containing produce. (Tr. at
452:17-454:1p In particular, when Plaintiff's SmartFresh product is placed into the generator
the air infusion mechanism generates bubbles that fiekdéCP out of wateand intothe air in the
room. (r. at 42:2023 & 453:23-454:12). Plaintiff offered testimony that té air infusion
mechanism was hidden from public vie{Ur. at 453:1925). Neverthelesfefendantargue that
the mechanism was generally known in the indusing therefore canntte a protectableéade

secret (D.l. 597 at 23).8 In support, Defendants point topresentation describintja]n air

(CompareD.l. 575 at 13 & 17with 18 U.S.C881839(3) & (5)). Thatis, the parties agree
that the DTSA and PUTSA claims rise and fall together.

8 As to the elements of whether a trade secret exists, Defendants do lesigehahy aspect
other than the “generally known or readagcertainable [by or through] proper means.”
Seel8 U.S.C.§8 1839(3); 12 R. CoN. STAT. ANN. § 5302. Unless otherwise noted,
Defendants’ challenge to the existence of Plaintiff's trade secrets always focutes
issue alone-i.e., on whether the technology was generally known or readily ascertainable
through proper means.
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bubbler in the water [that] carries thé\ICP from solution into th atmosphere of the sealed room”
(DTXb-556 at RMB-25639 and totheir expert’'s testimony that he saw “AgroFresh’s gas
generator with authorization as early as 2002” and later described itsiapéoabDecco (Tr. at
1112:1-P & 1114:1221). Defendants also argue that the “air infusion mechanism” was disclosed
in the 849 Ritent and therefore canno¢ atrade secret. (D.l. 597 at S8ee alsd849 Patent at
8:1215 (“A more specific feature of this methylcyclopropene mettiodelivery embodiment
comprises bubbling a gas through the solvent while it is in contactivtmmplex”)).

The jury was presented with the evidence Defendants now rely on and found it not credible
or insufficient to overcome Plaintiff evidencehat the “air infusion mechanism” was hidden from
view and entitled to trade secret protectidine Cairt sees no basis to disturb that findinghe
purportedly revealing photograph Dr. Beaudry’s presentatiaioes not reveal thgpecific “air
infusion mechanisiused by Plaintiff, but simply shows a container sitting in a hole in a door
(CompareDTXb-556at RMB-25634 with Tr. at 454:412 Dr. BeaulieuPlaintiff's vice president
of research and developmedéscribing the “air infusion mechanism” as something that “enables
the right amount of IMCP to come out of the water at the right time and farley [sic] so that what’s
left is sugar water and its’ easy to save to dispose of. . . . It is designed to conmuiskethe 1
MCP out of the generator;3ee alsdr. at 1114:39 (Defendantsexpert, Dr. Beaudnyiscussing
the photograph and explaining that “also on the other side of the door is one of these gas generators
that we're talking about here)?) As to Dr.Beaudrys testimony that he had access to the system
and airinfusion mechanism in 200Qvithout confidentiality restrictions)thereby suggesting it
was not hidden, the jury was free to make credibility determinatioregectthat testimony

Finally, that the ‘849 Patent discloses bubbling gas through a saleestnot render the

gas generator trade secret generally known. Indeed, that disclosure simplyhatajas may be
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bubbled through a solvent with no specifics as to what mechanism to use or any other details
related tahe bubblingor its effect on th -MCP. See Texas Advanced Optoelectronic Sols., Inc.
v. Renesas Elecs. Am., In895 F.3d 1304, 1313 (Fed. Cir. 201@atent must disclose
combination of elements that comprises trade secret to render it “generally knmevngienied
139 S. Ct. 2741 (2019). The Court will not disturb the jury’s findings.

The Courtlikewise finds that there was substantial evidence to support the jury’s finding
that Defendants misappropriated the gas generator trade secret. Defendantaiagpéidation
of TruPick employed a “bait bucket” that “consisted of publicly available technoagy,a
container with an air bubbler.” (D.l. 597 at 3). Defendants predewnidence supporting this
theoryto the jury. Gee, e.qg.Tr. at 60513-19; Tr. at 1115:11116:9;DTXb-168). But the jury
was also presented with evidence that supported the finding that DefeacdgutedPlaintiff's
“air infusion mechanismby improper means(See, e.gPTXa462 atMIR_22568(Dr. Mir had
access toPlaintiff's gas generatyr Tr. at 604:512 (Dr. Mir was tasked with developing
Defendants’ gas generator); Tr. at 1112140(Dr. Beaudry discussing the photograph he took of
Plaintiff's gas generator and provided to Decco employees at MirTech’s rgguesiged,Dr.
Mir admitted to nsappropriating trade secrets held by Plairfiff at 551:1113), and he wrked
closely with Defendants on developing their TruPick produghd there was evidence that
Defendants knew of Dr. Mir’s relationship and work with Plaintiff and took pains to ke@p t
own work with Dr. Mir hidden, particularly given theMCP knowledge he brought to Defendants.
(See, e.g.Tr. at 127:910 (Court reading to the jury the stipulated fact that “Dr. Mir and Decco
took pains to keep both the-@-F technology and their relationship a secret from AgroFresh”);
see alsd®®TXa23 (“[Dr. Mir] is nervous that AgroFresh will learn about his work with Decco.

We definitely needDr. Mir] and his IMCP patents/technology . .”); PTXa-24; PTXa26). A
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jury could reasonably infer from this evidence thatendantacquired i e., misappropriatedhe
trade secret Plaintiff held in its gas generatdhus, substantiadvidence suppastthe jury’s
findings that Defendants misappropriated Plaintiff’'s gas generator tra@e. secr
2. Gas Sampler

The gassampleris apieceof equipment thasamplegjas in a produce room undergoing
treatment. ADr. Beaulieuexplained, the gas sampler “takes a sample of the air inside the room
so that we can then take it back to the laboratory and measure to know what’s going on inside that
room.” (Tr. at 455:8L1). Plaintiff's gas sampler was the product of research to determine the best
time for sampling after SmartFresh treatmemdit involvesspecialized technology to prevent the
air from being changed while sampled.Tr.(at 455:19456:12. The gas sampleuses
miniaturization technology to obtain a sample of a desired sizeat(456:13-22). And, further,
Dr. Beaulieutestifiedthat no one else in the industry provided gas sampling service and that the
gas sampler was under secrecy protections.af457:3-8).

Defendants argue th&faintiff's gas sampler was not a trade secret becdesrires of
the gas sampler” were generally known and commercially availBole597 at 4, pointingto
their expert’s testimonythat a commercially available sample bag could be attached to a
commercially available pump to achieve a gas samplecthdtl be programmed to sample gas
at any timegeeTr. at 1120:225; see als®TXb-168 at DECCGEL68054; DTXb156 at DECCO
168066). This dispute is one that turns on the credibility of Plaintiff's withess verstenbants’
expert, and that credibility determination falls to the jurfhe Courwill not disturbthe jury’s

finding that Plaintiff's gas sampler was a trade secret

o As to Defendants’ argument that Plaintiff disclosed the details of its gas samgier to

EPA (D.I. 597 at 4), the jury was presented with evidence that did not oseerT¢. at
534:18-21 & 535:38).

10
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The jury was also presented with substantial evidéimaeDefendants misappropriated
Plaintiff's gas sampler. Dr. Mknew how Plaintiff’'s gas sampler worked and had been provided
a prototype othe gas sampler. SeeTr. at 226:18227:23 (AgroFresh scientist explaining Dr.
Mir's access to gas sampling knowledgse alsd®TXb-817 (Dr. Mir discussing sampling with
AgroFresh scientistsPTXa180 (“[Dr. Mir] has an understanding of thi sampling procedure
used by [AgroFresh] using GC/FID and has beenramstorming how we/Decco can
sample/analyze . . . ;/PTXa159 at pg. 7 of 12 (Dr. Mir presentation depictinylCP sampler
for bananas))Dr. Mir also was responsible for designing aneatingDefendants’ gas samplers.
(Tr. at 606:2622). And the juy was presented with evidence that Defendants had access to
Plaintiff's gas sampler and that access was not authoridedPXa181 at slide 21see alsadr.
at 458:3459:5). The jury could reasonably infer from this evidernbat Defendantacquired
Plaintiff's gas sampler technolodpy improper means (including through Dr. Mir, who admitted
to misappropriating Plaintiff's trade secrets)his is sufficientto support the finding that
Defendants misappropriated Plaintiff's gas sampler tsadeet.

3. Testing Protocols

At trial, Plaintiff assertedhat its“testing protocolswere trade secret In Dr. Beauliets
words,testing protocolsre instructions that indicated a certain procedure to foldalmost like
a recipe.” (Tr. at 462:1463:1). Defendants argue that Plaintiff has failed to show that it
possessed a trade secret in its testing protocBkeD(l. 597 at 6). The Court aggs.

The entirety of Dr. Beaulieu’s testimony on “testing protocols” beiricade secret is
presented below:

Q. Okay. Now, with respect to other technologassociated with
the trade secretpardon me-with respect to the other technologies

associaté with theSmartFresh product, is theraare there testing
protocolsthat are also associated with the product?

11
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A. Yes, there are.

Q. All right. Now, on this subject of testing protocaeuld you tell
the Court and jury what you mean by testing protseol

A. The word protocol is essentially a seiredtructions, almost like

a recipe. Whas the first thinghe scientist or technician will do, the
second, the thirdthe fourth, et cetera, and documented to say
exactly how tado the study.We call them wudies or tests, but' &

to figure out how SmartFresh can best help the fruit feesh.

Q. Now, with respect to the testing protocols that ysed to
conduct the testwell, first, are the testingrotocols something that
you developed over a period ydgars?

A. We have been developing and refining our protogas,

Q. When did you first begin in the SmartFresh contiexteloping
protocols?

A. 1999.

Q. And under your supervision, has that been a subjgounfwork
personally during those ges?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. And the information associated with these tegpiregocols that
you've described to the jury, was thmtblicly available?

A. No.

Q. How does AgroFresh, if at all, derive any econowaicie from
those testing protocols associatathvemartFresh, the SmartFresh
product?

A. The testing protocols is what we use to figure out tmget the
most value out of SmartFresh on the applesthatis part of the
value we give to our customerssipart of our total service to them.

Q. And wih respect to this testing pardon me. With respect to
these testing protocols yee described, based on your work at
AgroFresh, have thegrovided your company with a competitive
advantage?

A. Absolutely.

(Tr. at 462:11464:4). Despite Dr. Beaulieu testifying that thenspecifiedprotocols were

documented, Plaintiff did not offer a single one into evidehtéact, Plaintiff introduced no other

12
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evidence regardintheseprotocols -i.e., there isnothingin the record as to any steps, sequence
of steps, materials to use, timingterpretation of resultgtc.for these testing protocots. There

is not even any evidence as to what the “testing protocols” actually fEsereis thusinsufficient
evidencedo support the jury’s findings.

The above testimonyy.e., the only evidence dhesting protocoly is conclusoryasseiing
thatPlaintiff regareééd some unspecified anchdefined testing protocols as economically valuable
because they wergecret. This testimonyfails to articulatewhat it the trade secreis with any
specificity and instead releeon handwavingabout a genericategoy of protocols Without
knowing specifics about what the protocols are, there is no way the jury could detern@ther
those protocols were generakgiown or readily ascertainable by proper meanlus, Plaintiff
did not provethatit possessed the “testing proto¢ods a trade secreand thegury’s finding to
the contrarymust be vacatedas mustits finding thatDefendants misappropriated the testing
protocolstrade secret

4. Treatment Parameters

Plaintiff offered evidence that its treatment parameters Wwade secrst (SeeTr. at
464:5-467:7). Dr. Beaulieubegan working to develop treatment parameters in 1999 and has
continued working on those parameters through at teadime of trial. Tr. at 464:18465:1).

As she explainedreatment parameters measure various aspects reda®edartFresh treatment

10 Furthermore, without knowing what the protocols at issue actually are, Plaanifiot
show that Defendants acquired, disclosed or used those protocols.

1 In addition to Dr. Beaulieu’s testimony, Plaintiff cites to a fewes of testimony from Mr.

McCaskey and Dr. Mira stipulatiorand two exhibitsi(e., PTXa23 & PTXa462). See

D.l. 612 at 67). Of these citations, the stipulation mentions “protocols” (quoting PTXa

23) and PTXa462 refers to “Standard Protocols” asMajor Challenge.” None of the

cited support refers to protocols as “testing protocols” or identifies anything about the

protocols €é.g, what they test or how they test it).

13
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— e.g, type of apples treated(Tr. at 464:517). The treatment parameters ateterminedby
numerous studies and result in an understanding of “the best conditions to use Smairfhresh.”
465:2418). One manifestation of the treatment parameters is a dosagewttientindicates how
much product to apply and at what ra{8ee id466:19-22see als®®TXa54 at MIR_5920). Dr.
Beaulieu testified that Plaintiff kept its dosage charts tedfie. at 466:23167:6). Defendants
argue that Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate it possessed any trade sedtetéreatment
parameters becaudigere is no description of the specific treatment paramatetsho evidence
that its treatment paranees were different from “general or specialized knowledge” in the
industry. SeeD.l. 597 at 7-8 The Court disagrees.
Plaintiff offered testimony from Dr. Beaulieu tithedosage charts were confidential and
there is at least one such dosage chatrtiha presented to the juryS€eTr. at 466:19467:6;see
also PTXa54). Dr. Beaulieu explained that dosage charts were one example of Plaintiff's
treatment parameters. (Tr. at 4662%. The dosage chartwhich is marked “DOW
CONFIDENTIAL,”*? containsdata indicating how and how mu&martFreshs applied €.g,
many diffeentpouches with certain minimum and maximum volumes). (R3Z&at MIR_5920).
This is sufficient evidence for the jury to reasonably determine that the dosagevenaris fact,
trade secrast Defendants argue that there was evidence that Smartiersastpe charts are publicly
available (D.l. 597 at 9-10), but the jury was entitled to weighaWidence against the testimony
of Dr. Beaulieu and the dosage chart marked confidential. The Court will not distyuoytke
finding that Plaintiff held trde secrets in its treatment parameters, more specifically dosage charts.
There is also substantial evidence to support the jury’s finding that Defendants

misappropriatedt leastthe confidentialdosage chamdmitted into evidenceHasan Isik is the

12 AgroFresh used to be a division of Dow AgroScienc8ge(e.g.Tr. at 576:9-12).
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individual who sent that dosage chart to Defendants. Mr. Isik was a former AgroFreskyesampl
who was recruited by Dr. Oakes, a forrDaw employee and later Decemnployee (SeePTXa
54 at MIR_5918"I have attached Agrofresh’s dosage charsBe alsdTXb-284;PTXa181 at
slide 9;Tr. at575:11-576:8 The jury also heardvidence thaMr. Isik would have signed a
confidentiality agreement with Plaintiff.SéeTr. at 231:210). AndDr. Oakes testified that he
foundportions of this dosage charsdul and it was “of some benefit (SeeTr. at 641:24642:4).
Although Dr. Oakes testified that the chart was not marked Dow confidentiallvehead it, the
jury was allowed to make its own credibility assessmasit® that testimony(SeeTr. at 641:24
25). Based on th evidence,the jury could reasonablfind that Defendants misappropriated
Plaintiff's dosage chattade secrefi.e., Plaintiff’'s treatment parameters)
5. Willful Trade Secret Misappropriation

Defendants argue that thereimsufficient evidence to support the jury’s findings as t
willful and maliciousnisappropriation of Plaintiff's trade secret§heCourtdisagrees PUTSA
defines“willful and malicious” to mean ihtentional acts or gross neglect of duty as to evince a
reckless indference of the rights of others on the part of the wrongdoer, and an entire want of
care so as to raise the presumption that the person at fault is conscious of the noasejues
carelessness 12 Pn. CoN. STAT. ANN. 8 5302 (see alsd.l. 575 at 20 (jury instruction based on
PUTSA))® Defendants argue that the jury was provided evidence that “Defendants toolcspecifi
steps to avoid infringing the rights of others.” (D.l. 597 at 11). That is tiBee, €.9.Tr. at
743:11-753:15 MPecco CEO explaining that they sought assurance from Dr. Mir that he was

bringing technology “free and clear’RTXb-491 § 19(Essentiv agreement with Decco and

13 The DTSA does not define “willful and malicious” but neither side asserts thahtlysis

would be different under the DTSA.
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MirTech containing with provision that no other entity or person has right, title or interest
MirTech’s technology); DTXb-493 8§ 6 (EssentivMirTech agreement with MirTech
representation that it is sole owner of techno)p@ Xb-677 8§ 12(DeccoMirTech confidential
disclosure agreement with MirTech representing it has the right to disclosaatifo); PTXa
71 87 (EssentivMirTech agreement with MirTech representing not to make improper disclosures
of another party’s informationyee als®TXb-680 DecceMirTech letter of inten)). Defendants
also produced evidence that they partnered with Dr. Mir because of his experienceansé bec
they wanted to misappropriate Plaintiff's technologyed, e.qg.Tr. at 53:23555:1 (Dr. Mir
testifying as to his experiencd)r. at 673:5-674:23Dr. Oakes testifying as to Dr. Mir's wealth of
experiencE see alsolr. at 126:910 (Court reading to the jury stipulated fact that “Dr. Mir is
widely recognized as an inventor and expert in the field of-lpastest technology)) And
Defendants offeed some evidence that they believed Dr. Mir owned tNMCP technology and
was free to work with Defendant{See Tr. at 590:2417, 591:424, 594:1520, 611:24612:16,
671:7416, 673:12674:3 & 676:1-Dr. Oakes testifying as to his “good faith” belief that Dr. Mir
was free to work with Defendants and pravidem with 2MCP technology) Tr. at 724:7-21,
744:5-20, 745:9-16, 746:Y4, 747:4748:14, 749:22/51:16, 752:119, 753:810 & 768:6-11
(Decco CEO testifying as this beliefin Dr. Mir's assurances that he was able to work with
Defendants “free and cleg)”

The jury, however,also heardevidence that Defendantenew (or were recklessly

indifferent to the fact) that their actions violated Plaintiff's right®8oth Dr. Oakes and Mr. Girin

14 Plaintiff's brief devotes a single paragraph (citing two exhibits and no testintony)
defending the jury’s willfulness finding and then suggests that the Court scavenge for more
support. $eeD.l. 612 at 8 (“as set forth more fully in AgroFresh’s Motion for Enhanced
Damages and associated briefing and elsewhere in this brief”)). Defendaajecdny
similar crossreferencing in their own briefing.Sée infra8 Ill.H.2). The Court notes that

16



Case 1:16-cv-00662-MN Document 639 Filed 11/30/20 Page 18 of 61 PagelD #: 26699

were aware, as of 2014, that Dr. Mir had a consulting agreement with PlajB&#, e.g.Tr. at
589:1419; Tr. at 724:721). Neither had access to the agreement itself at the time and at least Mr.
Girin made clear that he “absolutely” would not have requested to see Dr. Mir's aumsulti
agreements. See, e.qg.Tr. at 724:7725:1 (when asked whether he requested to see Dr. Mir's
consulting agreements with Plaintiff, Decco’s CEO said “[a]bsolutely nothere is no evidence

that Dr. Oakes asked to see the agreements or inquired about the terms. This suggests tha
Defendants were avoiding any meaningful investigation into Dr'shMibligations to Plaintiff.

Then before TruPick’s launch in September 2016, Defendants were provided copies of portions
of Dr. Mir's agreements with Plaintiff, which set forth Dr. Mir’s obligationsRiaintiff and the

scope of Plaintiff's ownership rights aertain1-MCP technology. SeeTr. at 738:16-24(Decco

CEO) & 771:17772:1 (UPL general counsgl)Defendantsnade the decision to launch TruPick

in September 2016 despite knowledge of Dr. Mir's obligations to Plair{§eTr. at 740:4-7&
771:17-772:11).Defendants make much of the fact that the agreements were not deemed “clear
and unambiguous” until JudgRobinson issued her ruling (D.l. 597 at 11), but this is not
dispositive Given the above evidence, the jury could reasonably conclude that Defendants were
at least recklessly indifferent to the rights of Plairgiffen that they knew Dr. Mir had obligans

to Plaintiff but Defendants decided not to investigate the scope of those obligations.

such tactics are unhelpful and largely ineffective, suggesting that arguments wgrgh onl
generic crosseference (to an entire brief in some instances) are unimpottadeged, if
the parties deem the effort parsng throughthe record or theiearlier submissions to
identify support for their current positiomsworthy they can hardly expect the Court to
do so. See Hoffmamha Roche Inc. v. Apotex Inel96 F. App’x 46, 52 (Fed. Cir. 2012)
(“District judges are not archaeologists,” and it was not the court’s burden tavatec
masses of papers in search of revealing tidbits’ to help Roche satisfy its burden . . . .").
15 Similarly, that Defendantsytled TruPick from the market after the court’s ruling in the
first trial does not mean that their behavior prior to the ruling was innocent.
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Moreover, he jury was also presented with evidence that Dr. Mir and Defendants were
nervous about Dr. Mir's exposure and worried that Plaintiff would find out about Defendants’
work with Dr. Mir. (See, e.gPTXa24 (“One key consideration foneeting away from a Decco
location was to prote¢Dr. Mir] from exposure to more Decco folks (fuow) than needed. Once
AgroFresh learns of his work with Decco, yhwill certainly cut him off as aonsultant even
before[Essentiv]is formed?); see alsdPTXa23 (“[Dr. Mir] is nervous that AgroFresh will learn
about his work with Decco . . We definitely needDr. Mir] and his IMCP patents/technology
so we doit want him to be tempted kthe AF checkbooK); PTXa-26 (“[Dr. Mir] is becoming
very nervous of his exposure. . . . Decco is also at r)skAnd the jury heard Defendants’
admission that they undertook effetid keep Dr. Mir's work with them a secréBeeTlr. at 127:9
10 (Court reading to the jury the stipulated fact that “Dr. Mir and Decco took painepdkéh
the M-O-F technology and their relationship a secret from AgroFrest&))this, coupled with
the evidenceset forth above that Defendamtgsappropriatedsome of Plaintiff's trade secrets
throughDr. Mir (and others),easonablgupports a finding that Defendants were at least recklessly
indifferent to Plaintiff’s rights. Tiere may be evidence to suggest Defendants attempted to respect
Plaintiff's rights but assessing credibility and weighing evidence is squarelynwhigiprovince
of the jury. Seelightning Lube4 F.3d at 1166. There is substantial evidence to support the jury’s
finding of willful and malicious trade secret misappropriation.

B. Unfair Competition

The jury found that Defendantgere liable for unfair competitio(see D.I. 578at 4), a
common law clainthat Plaintiffbrought under Pennsylvania la®[T]he Pennsylvania common
law tort of unfair competition is coextensive with the definition set forth in tiséafREement (Third)
of Unfair Competition.” Giordano v. Claudip714 F. Supp. 2d 508, 521 (E.D. Pa. 20%6§ also

Acumed LLC v. Advanced Surgical Servs.,,16861 F.3d 199, 227 (3d Cir. 2009) (assuming
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without deciding that Pennsylvania courts would follow the Restatement (Third) ofrUnfai
Competition) To prove unfair competitioflaintiff must showthat (1) Defendants caused harm
to the commercial relations of Plaintiff by engaging in a business or trade, (2) thedsattad
from acts or practices by Defendants relating to trade secret misappropratien acts or
practices by Defendants determined to be actionable as an unfaidneéttmmpetition (taking
into account the nature of the conduct and its likely effect on Plaintiff and the pubbthgolacts

or practices by Defendants determined to be unlatffuBeeRestatement (Third) of Unfair
Competition § 1see alscAcumed561 F.3d at 227Giordang 714 F. Supp. 2d at 521.

Defendants move for judgment as a matter of law of no unfair competition, arguing that
there is “no evidence of any unlawful conduct by Defendants” and, instead, the evidence at trial
shows Defendants “gaged in lawful competition” through sales of a product to their own existing
customers pursuant to a license that Defendants believed to be valid. (D.l. 597 at 12). Befendant
also argue that there was no substantial evidence of harm to Plaintiff’ sscoimelations. I¢l.).

The Court disagrees.

As to unlawful conduct by Defendants, the jury was presented with substantial evidence
that Defendants misappropriated at least some trade secrets held by P(&@e&fsuprg I11.A).

Trade secret misappropriation is one type of unlawful conithattmay give rise to a claim of
unfair competition SeeRestatement (Third) of Unfair Competition § 1(a)(8his isalone would
besufficient evidence that Defendants committed “unlawéunduct” within the meaning of unfair

competition. In addition Plaintiff also introduced evidence thaefendants were aware of Dr.

16 The instructions given to the jury were modeled onRlestatement (Third) of Unfair

Competition (SeeD.l. 575 at 21).
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Mir's consultancy with Plaintiffthat Defendants needed his knowledge attempted to conceal
their own work with Dr. Nir. (Sege.g, PTXa24; PTXa23; PTXa-26.

Defendantglid introduce evidence to support their contention that they were engaging in
“lawful competition.” See, e.g.Tr. at 1048:211050:1 (Decco employee testifying that
AgroFresh’s customers were well know}; at1060:91061:9 (Decco customers could possibly
qualify for discount based on total salélg) at1062:101063:7 (pricing below AgroFresh was not
designed to destroy AgroFresh pricerked); see alsolr. at 611:24-612:16, 630:22-6314&
633:6-634:1 Dr. Oakedestifying that Dr. Mir would provide assurances he was fulfilling all his
obligations to AgroFresh, that some TruPick customer calls were made to previots De
customers and that Decco would not sell to AgroFresh customers if it violated therestroF
contract);DTXb-974 (Decco email stating that there are very few customers in the Westowho
not do business witbecco). And Defendants presented evidence as to their belief that they were
doing business pursuant to a “valid” license with MirTecheeDTXb-493 (license agreement);
see alsolr. at 743:11753:15(DeccoCEO testifying thatDr. Mir representedhe was bringing
technology “free and cleardnd it was importantor Defendantdo have a license agreement
related to the technology) Presented witkevidence of both unlawful and lawful conduct, the jury
was entitled to make credibility determinations and weigh the evidenaachthe conclusion
that Defendants engaged in “unlawful cond@s’tequired for Plaintiff' sinfair competitiorclaim.

The Court will not disturb that.

As to harm to Plaintiff's commercial relations, Defendants argue that thersifstantial
evidence to support the jury finding that Defendants caused the harm as opposed to competitive
harm by other partiee., Pace). (D.l. 597 at 12). Specifically, Defendants assert that the jury

was provided with evidence that PaceSIUM product captured more of tHeMCP market
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than Defendants’ TruPick productld( see alsolr. at 1208:111210:2 (Defendantdinancial
expert testifying thaEY SIUM captured 14% of the market in 2016 compared to TruPick capturing
1%); Tr.at 810:2815:12 (AgroFresh employee from 2007 to end of 2016 testifying that AgroFresh
expected competitior including from Pace- after the main IMCP patent expired in 20)4Tr.
at761:22-762:13DeccoCEO testifying thatDefendants’ product represented 1% of rierket
in 2016 and 0% (no sales) in 2QL.7The jury, howeveralso hearevidence thalPace’s effect on
the market was minimal and that Plaintiff's customers were willing to pay more fotifPkin
product than Pace’sS€e€rlr. at 792:419, 792:21793:15, 793:1R5 & 794:24794:4(Pace’s entry
in 2015 had “very minimal” effect on market, AgroFresh had a “strong following in the market,”
FYSIUM product tooklongerto apply and customer surveys showed minimal risk in losing
customers to FYSIUMY see alsdPTXb-442). And Plaintiff adducedevidence that the TruPick
product changed the market and caused haRtaintiff's business relations as a resiiee, e.g.
Tr. at 8021-804:12). There was also evidence that Defendants were attempting to undercut
Plaintiff's pricing and disrupbr preventlongterm contractsvith Plaintiff. (SeePTXb-353;
PTXb-305 & PTXB309 see alsoTr. at 941:112 & 942:23-18(Plaintiff's financial expert
testifying on market disruption from TruPick priciflg And Plaintiff presentedome evidence
that that harm continued even after TruPick left the marl@xel(r. at807:18-23Tr. at870:1-8
Tr. at 945:17-946:10).Basedon this evidence, the jury could reasonably infer that Defendants’
unlawful conduct (and resultant TruPick launch) caused harm to Plaintffisnercialrelations.
The Court will not disturb that finding either.

Because substantial eviderstgoports the jury’s findings, the Court will deny Defendants’

motionas it relates to unfair competition
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C. Intentional Interference with Customer Contracts

The jury found that Defendants were liable fiotentionally interferingwith Plaintiff's
existing customer contractgsee D.l. 578 at 4), another common law claim brought under
Pennsylvania law. To prove intentional interference wgtcustomer contract’s, Plaintiff must
prove (1) a contractual relationship existed between Plaintiff and customer, (2) gulpasen
by Defendants specifically intended to harm the contractual relationship, @yae no privilege
or justification on the part of Defendants and (4) Defendants’ conduct harmed PISie¢Burton
v. Teleflex Ing.707 F.3d 417, 433 (3d Cir. 2013).

Defendants assert the jury’s finding of liability cannot stand for two reaséirst,
according to Defendant®laintiff failed to prove the existence of a contractual relationship
because it never identified any specific arigicontract that Defendants interfered with. (D.l. 597
at 13). Second,Defendants argue that Plaintiff failed to prove that Defendants specifically
intended to harm anyustomer contractual relationshifid.).}” The Courdisagres.

As an initial matter, Plaintiff offered evidence that it had contractual rel&issvith its
1-MCP customers (See, e.g.Tr. at 799:14 (former AgroFresh commercial manager and later
vice president testifying that “[AgroFresh] had a contract withyegestomer every year that we
[did] business with. Sometimes they were my#tar contract[s]”)see alsd®PTXb-1067,PTXb-
1069,PTXb-1071,PTXb-1073,PTXb-1075,PTXb-1077,PTXb-1080,PTXb-1082,PTXb-1084
& PTXb-1085 contracts between Plaintiff and diféert customers for 2016 season and relating to
Plaintiff's SmartFresh produgt The jury was also presented with evidence that, during the 2016

season, Defendants sold theiMCP TruPick product to some of these customeBeeDTXb-

o Defendants do not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence as to the other eldments o

Plaintiff's claim of intentional interference with customer contracts
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512;see alsolr. at 1019:94020:12 (explaining that DTXB12 represents 2016 season sales)).
For example, e of those contracts between Plaintiff and a customer narBedetjeOrchards
and that customer also appears as a customer that purchased Dé&¢CGd’sptoduct in the 2016
season (ComparePTXb-1069 at AF00051347Avith DTXb-512). Indeed, a comparison of
Plaintiff's customer contracts for the 2016 season and DIXbshows theresioverlap between
Plaintiff's customers and those Defendants were targeting for TruPAokl Plaintiff did offer
some evidence that it was forced to renegotiate terms of its yearly contradtheéss TruPick’s
presence in the marketplaceSeg, e.q.Tr. at 802:15804:12). Based on this evidence, the jury
could reasonably infer that Plaintiff had contractual relationships withiMER customers that
Defendants interfered with.

The Court also rejects Defendants’ argument that the®insubstantialevidence to
support the jury finding that Defendants specifically intended to harm Plaintif8rexcustomer
contracts. Plaintiff introduced evidence that Defendants targetedclusive AgroFresh
customer$ with substantially discounted pricing for their TruPick produanbd, further, that
Defendants were aware customeese subject to contracts with PlaintifSee e.g, PTXb-305
“AgroFresh will respond to the threat from Decco now that they are aware of ouck®uP
registration. . . . (we know some customers already have ¥e¢ar7contracts) . . . [W]e should
make a special effort to contact . . . all exclusive AgroFresh customdt$Xp-309 (‘[T]he
Decco team has started to contact the@dtomers on the WA customer contact list to makg [si
provide our proposal of purchasing 3 tad®ms this season with an expected 15% to 25%
discount.”) PTXb-1089 (Decco salesperson discussing discounted pricing given to a customer
because “these people had solid contracts with Agrofresh already inthdd@cequired them to

treat 100% of their forecasted rooms . . . [and] [i]t was like squeezing blood from a getithe
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rooms [we] did”) see alsdPTXa31; PTXb-346; PTXb353 Tr. at 1067:124 (Decco had no-1

MCP customers before TruPick, suggesting that none of the targeted customers came from
Decco’s own customer bg¥e From this evidence, the jury could reasonably itifat Defendants

did, in fact, specifically intend to haroontractual relationships between Plaintiff and its exgstin
customers To the extent that Defendants argue there eeamtervailingevidence of legitimate
business reasons for Defendants to approach Plaintiff's customers or evideérigefémalants

would not sellto a customeif doing so “violated thgr] contiact” (Tr. at 632:22634:2), the jury

was entitled to give whatever weight it deemed appropriate to that evitfefibe. Court will not
reweigh the evidenceDefendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of law of no intentional
interference withPlaintiff's customer contractsill be denied

D. Intentional Interference with the MirTech Agreements and Businessdislaip

The jury also found that Defendants were liable fmtentionally interfering with the
MirTech agreements and business relationship (between Plaintiff and the MirTech Degnda
(SeeD.I. 578 at 4. This claim also brought under Pennsylvania |Jaequiresproof ofthe same
elements discussed in the preceding secti@ee (supra Ill.C). Here, Defendants argue that
there was not substantial evidence to support the jury finding that Plaintiffeslffetual damage
resulting from Defendants’ conduct. (D.l. 597 at 14). Rather, in Defendants’ view, thecevide
at trial showed Plaintiff &s already moving away from its relationship and “there is no evidence

that AgroFresh lost any benefits of the MirTech agreemenid.). (

18 To the extent Defendants assert there was justification for its conduetwasisimilarly
evidence that Defendants engaged in wrongful meaersy, converting confidential
information relating to the '216 Pateseginfra). SeeAcumed LLC v. Advanc&lrgical
Servs., InG. 561 F.3d 199, 215 (3d Cir. 200@9s necessary part of the “absence of
justification” requirement, defendant’s conduct must be considered “wrongful means,”
which is interpreted to meandnduct that was actionable on a basis independent of the
interference clair).
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Defendants offealmost noevidenceto support their argumentDefendants first point to
testimony from an AgroFresh employee who purportedly said that the company watdtriugs
away from Dr. Mir.” (d. (quoting Tr. at 1072:20074:3)). But tk employee waslsoasked if
there was any effort “at AgroFreshw@an itself off reliance on Dr. Mir” and the witness testified
that he did not know. (Tr. at 1073:28). Defendants then cite to Dr. Oakes’s testimony that Dr.
Mir said he was fulfilling his obligations to Plaintith suggest there was no actual haoot this
testimonyis clearly hearsay(SeeD.l. 597 at 14 (quoting Tr. at 612¥6)). This is the sum total
of the evidence offered by Defendants to overturn the jury verdict. Deferamtthe burden of
demonstratinghat substantial evidence doest support the jury’s finding and the Couwlvubts
that thisbareboneshowing satisfies that burden, particularly where the Court is to view the
evidence irthe light most favorable to Plaintiff.

Plaintiff's responsghowever,is similarly unhelpful (SeeD.l. 612 at 1% Plaintiff, like
Defendants, offersostly attorney argument untetherémlthe elements of the cause of action.
Nevertheless, the Court will not disturb the jury’s finding. Plaintiff's agreemamisbusiness
relationshp with the MirTech Defendants includeidter alia, assignmentconfidentiality and
non-competeprovisions. $eePTXa82; PTXa83). And the jury heard Dr. Mir admit that he
misappropriated trade secrets, thatdrgouslyinterfered withPlaintiff's contracts, etc.See, e.qg.

Tr. at 551:13123). A reasonable inference from this evidence is that Dr. Mir was not, in fact,
fulfilling his contractual obligations to Plaintiff despite hsirportedrepresentations to the
contrary to Defendants. Plaintiff was deprived of ben#fasit bargained for in contracting with

Dr. Mir (e.qg, that Plaintiff's information would be kept confidential)he jury also hearevidence
regarding the financial harm that resulted from the launch of TruPick, which employed

misappropriated trade secretsatDr. Mir admitted to misappropriating A reasonable inference
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from this isthatDefendants’ interference with the MirTeafreements and business relationship
did, in fact, cause Plaintiff harmThus,there wassubstantial evidenc® support a finding that
Plaintiff sufferedactual harm from the loss of the MirTeaireements and business relationship.
Defendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of law of no intentional interferetictheviMirTech
Agreements and business relationship will be denied.

E. Civil Conspiracy

The juryalsofound that Defendants engagedaivil conspiracy (D.l. 578 at 5). To prove
civil conspiracyunder Pennsylvania lgwPlaintiff must show (1) a combination of two anore
persons acting with a common purpose to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful
means or for an unlawful purpose; (2) an overt act done in pursuance of the common purpose; (3)
malice (.e., an intent to injure); and (4) actual damage to Plaintiff caused by the consiBeey.
Thompson Coal Co. v. Pike Coal C412 A.2d 466, 472 (Pa. 1979).

Defendants argue that the jury’s verdict of civil conspiracy mlisbé&cause there is ho
substatial evidence that Defendants acted withalice' as required under Pennsylvania law.
(D.I. 597 at 1415). According to Defendantdmalice” requires that the Defendants acted with
the “sole purpose” of injuring Plaintiff arildere was insubstantial e&ncefor the jury to conclude
that they acted with the sole purpose of injuring Plaiimstead of legitimate business reasons
(Id.). Defendants also argue that there was insubstantial evidence that Defandabts Mir
acted with azommon purpose to commit an unlawful act with an understanding that the other had
thatsamepurpose. I¢. at 15).

One of the leading cases on civil conspiracy under Pennsylvania law supports Bisfenda
position. “Proof of malice,i.e., an intent to injure, is essential in proof of a conspiracy. This

unlawful intent must be absent justificatiormhompson Coal Co. v. Pike Coal C412 A.2d 466,
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472 (Pa. 1979%ee also id(“There are no facts of record which indicate that Johnstwdaolely
to injure appellants. To the contrary, there are many facts which indicate thabdadutet solely
to advance the legitimate business interests of his client and to advance his @stsifitdviany
other cases have relied ®@hompson Coalo find that civil conspiracy under Pennsylvania law
requires evidence that the-conspirators acted with the sole purpose of harming the plaintiff.
See, e.gDePuy Synthes Sales, Inc. v. Globus Med., 25@ F. Supp. 3d 225, 248 (E.D. Pa. 2017)
(“[A] showing that a person acted for professional reasons, and not solely to injure thi& plainti
negates a finding of malice;”Arsenal, Inc. v. Ammonslo. 141289, 2014 WL 6771673, at *4
(E.D. Pa. Dec. 2, 2014) (“Under Pennsylvania law, a defendantvahtsnalice only when the
sole purpose of the agreement is to injure the plaintjfé&¢ also Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Gemma
301 F. Supp. 3d 523, 546 (W.D. Pa. 2018)5pear v. FenkelNo. 132391, 2016 WL 5661720,
at *55:56 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 30, 201&)arified on denial of reconsideratior2016 WL 7475814
(E.D. Pa. Dec. 29, 2016%arpolis v. Tereshk@6 F. Supp. 3d 407, 4231 (E.D. Pa. 2014xff'd,
625 F. App’x 594 (3d Cir. 2016).

In its brief, Plaintiff did not dspute the lavof civil conspiracy in PennsylvaniaSéeD.l.
612 at 16). In factPlaintiff's response is limited to three sentences, citing only Dr. Mir’s trial
testimony referring to his consent judgmentl.)( Given the substantial evidence in the record of
Defendants pursuing business interest in the TruPick product, the Court fihdsthere is not
substantial evidence to support a finding that Defendants acted wabl¢hmurpose of injuring
Plaintiff. (See, e.gDTX-291 (October 201Bmail from Dr. Oakes sayiritiet's make money as
fast as possible”)Tr. at 658:2625; Tr. at 1057:2124 Decco employeeMr. Mowry, testifying
that TruPick fit into Decco’s storage product portfolio); PTX&l72 commercial 1-MCP

formulationwas a togb priority for Decco in fiscal year 20)6PTXb-606 (commercial -MCP
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formulation on Decco research and development wish list in October A014);742:2-743:17
(Decco CEO testifying thddecco wasnterested in MCP technologiess far back a2008and
began investing in the technology in 2p1PTXa143 (“The goal of [Essentiv] has to create value
that both MirTechand Decco can enjoy in the coming yeajs.”)herefore, the Court will grant
judgment as a matter of law of no civil conspiracy in favor of Defendants.

F. Conversion

The jury found Defendants liable for conversion. (D.l. 578 at 5). Plaintiff’'s conversion
claim against Defendants was based on conversion of the “confidentiatradensecret
information disclosed” in the '216 Patent. (D.l. 575 at 26). Under Pennsylvania law, conversion
is defined the deprivation of another’'s possession, use or right to use its property without the
owner’s consent and without legal justificatiddee Universal Premium Acceptance Corp. v. York
Bank & Tr. Co, 69 F.3d 695, 704 (3d Cir. 199%ennsjvania courts recognize a cause of action
for conversion of confidential information, btfa] viable claim of conversion of confidential
business information must allege that the defendant acquired the information throcmdiongs.”
Hill v. Best Med. Int’l, Inc.No. 071709, 2011 WL 5082208, at *15 (W.D. Pa. Oct. 25, 2011). To
prevail onits conversionclaim, Plaintiff must prove that Defendants procured confidential
informationin the '216 Patent by improper means and for the purpose of advancing a rival business
interest andfurther,that harm to Plaintiff resulted from Defendants’ possession, disclosure or use
of that information. SeeRestatement (Second) of Torts § 758 alsdill, No. 071709, 2011
WL 5082208, at *15 (Pennsylvania follows the Restatement (Second) of Torts for conversion of
confidential business information).

Defendats argue that there wassubstantial evidence to support the jury’s finding of

conversion because Plaintiff failed to prove that the information in the '216 Patenbwlidential

28



Case 1:16-cv-00662-MN Document 639 Filed 11/30/20 Page 30 of 61 PagelD #: 26711

(at the time of conversiorty (SeeD.l. 597 at 1516). In Defendants’ view, Plaintiff was focused

at trial on proving that the 216 Patent information was a trade secret, not simplgectiafi
information and therefore the jury does not have substantial evidence of the 216 Patent
information being confidential at the time of conversioid.; (see alsdD.l. 616 at 67). That
Plaintiff failed to prove that the information in the '216 Patent rose to the leveldef secredoes

not, however,necessarilymean that Plaintiff failed torpve that information was confidential

The jury could have found that Plaintiff failed to prove the '216 Patent informatisraviiade
secret for any number of reasoA®.g, because Plaintiff failed to prove thiie information
derived independent economic value.

Moreover, Plaintiff’'s patentexpert, Dr. Waltontestified that the certain aspects of the
claimedinvention andcexamplealtimately set forth in the '216 Patent were not generally known
or readily ascertainable befadesclosed in the patentS¢e, e.g.Tr. at 317:13341:1§. Plaintiff
also cites the Decco letter of intent with MirTech, whilggeststhat information in the
application that led to the '216 Patent was confiden{l@llXb-680 at DECCEB64). Defendants
offered evidencesuggestinghat the disclosed information was generally kn@wvascertainable
(See, e.q9.Tr. at 373:4375:19 & 411:15416:6; Tr. at 1143:13149:16 Tr. at 1184:41185:9.
Based on thisompeting testimonythejury could reasonably finthatcertaininformation in the
'216 Patent was confidential at the time of conversion. Tbertdeclines tomake credibility

determinations or weigh the evidencgeelightning Lube 4 F.3d at 1166. Becausabstantial

19 Defendants do not challenge any other element of Plaintiff’'s conversion-€lia@mnthe
sole basis for the request for judgment as a matter of law is that Plaintfti@ieove it
possessedconfidential information in the 216 Patent. Although somewhat
counterintuitive because a patent is at issue, the basis for Plaintiff's claim igsthat i
confidential information was taken and incorporated into the '216 Patent withautifP$ai
consent.
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evidence supports Plaintiff's claim of conversidefendantsmotion for judgment as a matter of
law of no conversiomwill be denied

G. Patent Infringement and Validity

The jury found that Deccwillfully infringed claim 1 of the ‘849 Patent and tlektim 1
was not invalic?® (SeeD.l. 578 at 6). Defendantsnove for judgment as a matter of law that
Deccodid not infringeclaim 1 ofthe’849 Patent, that any purported infringement was not willful
and, futher, that claim 1s invalid as anticipated and as indefinite under 35 U.S.C. § 13€e (
D.l. 597 at 59).

Startingwith infringementof claim 1 the only infringement theory at issue is doctrine of
equivalents. An accused device that does not literally infringe may still infringe thvedswctrine
of equivalents “if there is ‘equivalence’ between the elements of the accuskedtpoo process
andthe claimed elements of the patented inventididrnerJenkinson Co. v. Hilton Davis Chem.
Co, 520 U.S. 17, 21 (1997). Analysis under the doctrine of equivalents follows one of two tests
endorsed by the Supreme Codmhsubstantial differences or fatilon-way-result—both of which
are performed on an elemdmt-element basisThe insubstantial differences test asks whether the
element in the accused product performs a substantially different role thanrttezla@é&ment,
and the functiorway-reault test evaluates whether the element in the accused product performs
substantially the same function, in substantially the same way, to achieve salbgthetisame
result as the claimed elemendl. at 3940.

Claim 1 of the '849 Patent recites:

A complex formed from a molecular encapsulation agent and a
compound having the following structure

20 Only Decco was accused of infringement and only direct infringement was at issue when

the case was submitted to the jurpeé€Tr. at 1001:5-16).
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(R)n\é

wherein n is a number from 1 to 4 and R is selected from the group
consisting of hydrogen, saturated or unsaturated C1 to C4 alkyl,
hydroxy, halogen, C1 to C4 alkoxy, amino and carboxy.

(849 Patent at Claim 1)Plaintiff's expert testified that Decco’s TruPick product met each and
every limitation of claim 1. eeTr. at 34:21-358:12 see alsad. at Tr.at 342:220 (TruPick
uses IMCP as activengredient, which is compound having formula depicted in claim with R
being a methyl group.é., C1 alkyl)); Tr. at 352:1:357:20(TruPick uses magnesium formate,
which is equivalent to the claimed molecular encapsulation agéntlat 358:18 (TruPick
contains a complex formed between thICP and molecular encapsulation agent magnesium
formate);PTXa453 ('849 Patent)PTXb-298 (TruPicKabel); PTXb-295 (confidential statement
of TruPick formula); PTXE92 (manufacturing process for TruPick)). As to theolecular
encapsulation agehtPlaintiff's expert testified that TruPick’'s magnesium formM®©F was
equivalentunder both the functieway-result and insubstantial differences test§eeTr. at
354:14357:12 (functioaway-result); Tr. at357:1320 (insubstantial differences)Based on this
evidence, thgury foundthat Decco’s TruPick product infringed claim 1 under the doctrine of
equivalents.

Defendantglo not dispute the substance of the jury’s determination. Insteadartnsy
that the verdict of infringement cannot stand becailgerange of equivalenessertedor the
“molecular encapsulation agent” in claimefhsnareghe prior art specifically US. Patent No.

5,518,9880 Sisler?! (D.l. 597 at 1617; see alsdDTXb-563 nereinafter cited as “Sisle). A

21 Defendants’ argument for nonfringement is limited to the ensnarement defenise.,, if
claim 1 ofthe '849 Patent covers the accused TruPick product, then that claim ensnares the
Sisler patent. SeeD.l. 597 at 16-17).
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doctrine of equivalents theory canmmevailif the range of equivalents assenwa@tl encompass

or “ensnare” the prior artSee G. David Jang, M.D. v. Boston Scientific Co8@2 F.3d 1275,
1285 (Fed. Cir. 2017). “This limitation is imposed even if a jury has found equivalenceagh to e
claim element.”DePuy Spine, Inc. v. Medtronic Sofamor Danek,, 567 F.3d 1314, 1323 (Fed.
Cir. 2009) “[E]nsnarement, like prosecution history estoppel, is a legal limitation on the doctrine
of equivalents to be decided by the court, not a julg."at 1322.

Plaintiff argues that Defendants waived ensnarement as a defense. Theisagueed.
Defendants raised ensnaremienthe Pretrial Order and pursuiedt trial. SeeD.l. 519, Ex. 9 1
12;see alsdr. at369:18372:22 (crosexamining Plaintiff’'s pagnt expert on ensnaring tBesler
paten); Tr. at 1175:141176:17 Defendants’ patent expert testifying that the asserted range of
equivalents would capture Siglerindeed, atrial, Plaintiff not only did not object to Defendahts
guestions relating tensnaremenbut Plaintiff also attempted to introduce rebuttal testimoBge(
Tr. at 425:6-426:2).

As to the merits of ensnarement, the Court notes tHaf gpothetical claim analysis is a
practical method to determine whetlaer equivalent would impermissibly ensnare the priot art.
Intendis GnlH v. Glenmark Pharm. Inc., US$S822 F.3d 1355, 1363 (Fed. Cir. 2016). Under this
analysis, a hypothetical claim is crafted that literally reads on the accused dadi the Court
must determine whether that hypothetical claim would be patentable overrpimdrauced by
the accused infringerSee UltraTex Surfacednc. v. Hill Bros. Chem. Cp204 F.3d 1360, 1365
(Fed. Cir. 2000).It is the accused infringer’s burden to come forward with priobatit is the
patentee’s burden to propose a properly drafted hypothetical atarto prove that that claim is
patentable over the prior artSee Interactive Pictures Corp. v. Infinite Pictures, 274 F.3d

1371, 1380 (Fed. Cir. 20019ee also Jandg72 F.3cat 1287 (“A patentee. .bears the burden of
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proving that it is entitled to ‘the range of equivalents which it seeks.” And, when utilleng t
hypothetical claim tool, that burden starts with proposing a proper hypothetical claionkpa
broadens the issued asserted clairfuibtingWilson Sporting Goods Co. v. David Geoffrey &
Assocs. 904 F.2d 677, 685 (Fed. Cir. 1990) Here, Plaintiff does ngtroposea hypothetical
claim and the Court will not draft orte remedyPlaintiff's failure. SeeJang 872 F.3dat 1287
(“[T] he district court was under no obligation to undertake a hypothetical claim analygis on
patentee’spehalf”).

The Court is aware however,that courts are not constrained to a hypothetical claim
analysis SeeJang 872 F.3cat 1285 n.4 Although the Courhas found n@pecificguidance on
howto conduct an ensnarement analysis witlloetenefit of hypothetical claim, it will attempt
to do sdbased on the available recétdnd mindful of the tenet that, “sinpeior art always limits
what an inventor could have claimed, it limits the range of permissible equivalemtsaim”
Wilson Sporting Good€904 F.2dat 684. Regardless of the ensement analysis, the accused
infringer has the burden of coming forward with prior art but ultimately the buests withthe
patentedo prove thait is entitled to“the range of equivalents which it seékdd. at 685. As
discussed below, the Court finds tBefendants have met their burden by identifying and pointing
to disclosures in therior art {.e., Sisler) butPlaintiff has failed to satisfy itsurden.

In arguing against ensnarement in its gasi papersPlaintiff did notaddress the scope
of the asserted range of equivaldotsthe “molecular encapsulation agénthe Court, however,
hasthe testimony of Plaintiff's infringement expert and, as Defersdamtrectly point out, the

range of equivalents for the “molecular encapsulation ages@rted idroad —.e., any carrier

22 No party requested that the Court conduct separate or additional proceedings to hear
argument or receive further evidence on the issue of ensnarement.
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that stabilizes IMCP through adsorption(SeeTr. at354:12-24& 355:2-356:22. Defendants
argue that this range of equivalents ensnares Sisler, a patent that issued on M&p 2ihd is
titled “Method of Counteracting an Ethylene Response in Plants.” Sisler disahaselsians the
use of cyclopropene and “derivatives thereof” to inhibit ethylene responses in plaisier 4t
1:11-14;see also idat Claim 1). Sislediscloses use df-MCP asan ethylene-response inhibitor
according tdts claimed invention. %ee, e.gid. at Examples3-9,11 & 12;see also idat Claim
35). Sisler also discloses that the active compoergl, (-MCP) may be applied to plants alone
or “in combination with inert carriers.” Id. at 4:52;see also idat 4:56 (“Alternatively, the
compound may be appliedth a[n] inert carrier.)). Sisler then lists a number of “adjuvants or
carriers” that can be used, such as talc, diatomaceous earthdett. 5(1420). The issuehere
is whetherSisler, with its disclosureof thesecarriers is ensnared by the range of equivalents
Plaintiff asserts for “molecular encapsulation agent.”

Defendants’ patent expert, Dr. Dinca, testified that the range of equivalents for the claimed
“molecular encapsulation agents” wd capture Sisler. SeeTr. at 1175:141176:17. And
Defendants elicited testimony from Plaintiff's expert thagjgestsome of the carriers in Sisler

would adsorbto 1-MCP. (SeeTr. at 39:18-372:7).2% This is significant because Plaintiff's

23 The parties dispute whether Dr. Walton testified that diatomaceous earth walsl-an “o

fashioned absorbant” or an “efdshioned adsorbant.’CompareD.l. at 597 at 16.7,with
D.l.612 at 17). The Court acknowledges that the transcript reads “absorbaat’31:2

7), but the Court doubts that that is what Dr. Walton testified. Immediately after
characterizing diatomaceous earth as an-fafthioned absorbant,” she agreed that “the
molecules wouldtick to it.” (Tr. at 371:57 (emphasis added)). Dr. Walton had previously
explained the differences between absorption and adsorption: “Absorption is when you
think of soaking something up with a spondelsorption is morelike when the molecules

can come stick to a surface, so thegdhere to adhere to the surface.” (Tr. at 30296
(emphasis added)). In fact, Dr. Walton consistently characterized adsorption asl@sole
“sticking” to a surface. ee e.g, Tr. at 303:19-21, 328:6-9 & 358:4-13). Thus, although
notnecessary to reach the conclusion here, the Court believes that Dr. Waltamsrgst
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expert asserteéquivalencybased on the ability of a compound to stabiliz®@P through
adsorption. Tr. at354:14-356:2p AlthoughPlaintiff's expert testified that she did not know if
the carriers irsisler would work r. at 372:1317), that testimony was conclusory and she did not
offer evidencehatthe disclosed carriers would fail to adsorb tICP.

Plaintiff argues that its expert explained that the carriers disclosed in Sestertdine samn
“molecular encapsulation agents” disclosed in the ‘849 Pat8eeD(l. 612 at 17 (quoting Tr. at
425:13-426:3)see alsalr. at 425:1316 (“Q. All right. So that list of compounds [in Sisler], does
it include any of the molecular encapsulation agents listed in AgroFresh’s '849 Dey?oaA.

No, it doesn’t.”); Tr. at 1252:3253:2). That Sisler does not disclose the saiCP carriers as
“molecular encapsulation agenttisclosed in the 849 Patent, howevsmot the relevant inquiry.
The Courtmust determine whether Plaintiff is entitledt®asserted range of equivalemtdight
of the prior art- not whether thdisclosure of the ‘849 Patent can be found in Sisler.

Plaintiff also points to its expésttestimony on redirect where shdempted to explain
that the Sisler carriers “wouldn’t have the special kind of chemical intenacfas in the 849
Patent] anyway. They also don’t disclose how they would even mimic the molecules s&th the
like, diatomaceous earth. And a lot of these are natural substances. \Mnea¥#s. They're
not the same structure wise.” (Tr. at 425425:1). But she went no further. She did not explain
how the structure of the range of equivalents for the '849 Patemtlecular encapsulation agent”
was different from the structure of the Sisler carriers, and she likewise dekplain how the
chemical interactions between Sisler carriers afiCP differ from those betweenNICP and

the range of equivalents shadarticulatedin her analysis of infringement by TruPickeft with

is more properly understood as an admission that diatomaceous earth is an adsorbent
because she agreed that molecules will “stick” to it.
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this record, the Court cannot conclude that Plaintiff has proven thasgstedange of equivalents
does not ensnare the Sisler prior &tated differently, Plaintiff failed to prevthat the invention
in claim 1 of the '849 Patent woulde patentable ove®isler if the range of equivalents for
“molecular encapsulation agent$ a carrier that stabilizes-MICP through adsorption, as
Plaintiff's expert testified”

Thus, lased on the record aattentive tahe partiesburdensthe Court finds that Plaintiff
failed to prove that itassertedange of equivalents does not ensnare the Sisler prior art. The
jury’s finding of infringement under the doctrine of equivalents therefore cannot standlldmel wi
vacated. And because the finding of infringement must be vacated, the jury’s fihawigub
infringement must also be vacated. The Court declines to address Defeselpautatarguments
as to willfulness.

Turning to invalidity, Defendants have not asserted counterstaimvalidity for claim1
of the 849 Patent. Invalidity was raisedly as an affirmative defense to infringemente¢
D.I. 418 (UPL’s Answey, D.1. 419 (Decco’s Answgy. In light of the findingof no infringement,
the affirmative defenses of invalidity anew moot and the Court declines teachthe issue of
validity.?® SeeCardinal Chem. Co. v. Morton It Inc.,, 508 U.S. 83, 934 (1993)(“An
unnecessary ruling on an affirmative defense is not the same as the necessatigrrexoa
counterclaim for a declaratory judgméptsee alsaCave Consulting Grp., LLC v. Optuminsight,

Inc., 725 F. Appx 988, 992 (Fed. Cir. 2018dleclining to reach invalidity issues after finding no

24 In a hypothetical claim angis, the Court evaluates whether that claim would be
patentable over the prior ag.¢, undersg§ 102 or 103).See Interactive Picture274 F.3d
at 1380. The Court sees no reason why the analysis would be different if there is no
hypothetical claim and Plaintiff does not dispute that Sisler discloses the lethents of
claim 1 of the '849 Patent.

25 And any amended judgment following this opinion shall contain no reference to validity
of the 849 PatentSeeElec. Fittings Corp. v. Thomas & Betts C807 U.S. 241 (1939).
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infringement “because the issue of invalidity under § 102(b) and (g) were raised aifiyastive
defenses and because neither party is seeking an adjudication on those issues anfoadiagf
of noninfringemeni) ; Lighting World, Inc. v. Birchwood Lighting, In@82 F.3d 1354, 1366 (Fed.
Cir. 2004) (“Because Birchwood raised invalidity only as an affirmative defense and not as a
counterclaim, it became unnecessary for the court to enter a judgment as to thgyinssilie
when the court entered judgment of noninfringement with respect to the 460 patetruled
on other grounds bWilliamson v. Citrix Online, LLC792 F.3d 1339 (Fed. Cir. 2015).

H. Damages

Defendantsargue thatthe jury award for compensatory damageshot supported by
substantial evidencand for the punitive damagesaward that it violates the Fourteenth
Amendment. $eeD.l. 597 at 20-27).The Court addresses these challermgsw. But first, the
Court addresses damages in light of its decision to grant judgment as a mattesroPlaintiff's
testing protocols trade secret, conspiracy and patent infringement claims.

1. Impact of the Court’s Rulings

The $6,000,000 in compensatory damages for Plaintiff's actual loss was based on
alternative theories of liability with any one sufficient to sustain the damaged. a{&®e, e.g.
D.l. 578 at 7, D.I. 575 at 3%ee alsolr. at 998:9999:1, 999:151000:14 &1002:2-1003:2
(discussion and eventual agreement to limit jury to one award for dassabompensatory
damages based on a finding of liability for any of the tort claims (or combinaticzof}jer
D.I. 525, Ex. B at 20 (Defendants’ proposed verdicesimeluding all theories of liability together
in one compensatory damages request)). Similarly, the $1,013,000 in unjust enritamages

was based on alternative theoriesrafdle secret liabilityith any one sufficient to sustain the
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damages awartf Thus, the Court’s grant of judgment as a matter of law on some, but,not all
theories of liability supporting the awards for actual loss and unjust enriclnagmo effect on
the amount of thee award. (SeeD.l. 578 at 7 (Question 014 & 15)). Defendants have not
argued otherwise.
2. Compensatory Damages for Plaintiff's Actual Loss ($6,000,000)

Defendantsargue that the $6,000,080mpensatory awaiid not supported by substantial
evidence'either as to lost profits or damages for conversiofD.l. 597 at 20;see alsd.l. 578
at 7 (jury awarding $6,000,000 for actual loss caused by Defendants’ actions)). Defdirdants
argument -en lost profits-is that Plaintiff failed to prove that it was entitled to lost profits because
there was insufficient evidence on tviRanduit factors. (D.l. 597 at 2@Plaintiff's expert
purportedly did not demonstrate absence of-imfnnging alternatives or that Plaintihad
manufacturing capacity for lost salpsPefendantsPanduitrelated arguments are tailored to the
patentinfringement issues- e.g, absence of nemfringing alternatives- and Defendants do

separately not applPanduitto the trade secreflaims?’ As explained above, Defendants are

26 The jury was instructed to assess unjust enrichment damages under attermatef trade
secret misappropriationSéeD.l. 578 at 7 (“Compensatory Damagéddnjust Enrichment
(Trade Secrets Only) . . . If you answered ‘YESany part of question 2, did AgroFresh
prove by a preponderance of the evidence damages for any unjust enrichment caused by
the misappropriation of th&rade secret(s), and if so, state the amount.” (emphases
added))). Defendants objected to unjust enrichment being at issue in the case, but
Defendants did not specifically object to the jury assessing unjust enrichmemedama
this manneri(e., that the unjust enrichment damages may be based on any one or more
trade secrets).

27 In its responsePlaintiff argues that th@anduit factors are “paterdpecific’ and that
“Defendants make no effort to challenge Thomas’s opinions under Pennsylvania law or the
DTSA.” (D.l. 612 at 21). Plaintiff goes further, asserting that “[tlhe damages award as to
the remaining tort claims is uncontestedltl.); Defendants do not dispute this. In fact,
their reply is conspicuously silent on the issues raised by Plair§ideD(l. 616 at 1011).
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entitled to judgment as a matter of law of no infringement of the ‘849 Patent andtberef
DefendantsPanduitrelated arguments fall awdnere (See supr&lil. G).

In an apparergndrun around the page limits, Defendants also assert that, “for the reasons
in Defendants’ Rule 50(a) motion, which are incorporated herein, AgroFresh failed to prove it
entitlement to priceerosion damages.” (D.l. 597 at 21 (citing D.I. 573 a3B. As noted above,
such crosseferencing isunhelpful. (See supran.14. In any event, the Court finds that
Defendants’ priceerosion arguments do not support vacating the jury’s award. Defendants argue
that the damages claim is too speculative because Plaintiff's finaxpealt did not provide
sufficient evidence that specific customers contracts were changed befcaugeick’s entrance
into the market and did not account for other competition in the market. (D.l. 573sae2&so
D.l. 616 at 10.?® But Plaintiff's experttestified that he dida customeby-customer analysis of
TruPick’s efect on Plaintiff's businesand its ability to charge certain prices going forwa(gkee,

e.g, Tr. at 947:17948:2 & 950:22-952:11see alsalr. at 945:17953:11 (price erosion arising
from TruPick and continuing beyond TruPick’s exit from the mayke&s to other competition,
the jury was presented widvidence that Pace’s FYSIUM was harder to impleraedtPlaintiff
had a “strong following in the mark&suggesting thadtY SIUM was not as much of a competitive
harm to Plaintiff as TruPick (See, e.qg.Tr. at 792:419, 792:21793:15, 793:1D25 & 794:24
7964; see alsoPTXa182 at slide35; PTXa247 at IECC(O15981). And Plaintiff's expert
testified that he excluded customers that were previously Pace customers where he could

not determinevhether Decco had an impac{Tr. at 952:811). The jury was entitled to assess

28 Defendants alséault Plaintiff's financial expert for offering “no testimony on how the
damages would differ based on which, if any, underlying claim is proven.” (D.l. 573 at
24). This criticism is curious given thddefendants proposed a single compensatory
damages iguestfor the jurybased on alternative theories of liabilitfseeD.l. 525, Ex. B
at 20).
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the credibility ofthis testimony anevidence(including Defendants’ countervailing evidenge
weigh the evidencand drawthe conclusions that it deemed appropriate. The Geed no basis
to disturb the findings of the jury.

Defendants also argue that Plaintiff failed to prove damages for its comvelesim, whch
was a basis forliability included inthe jury’s $6,000,000 compensatory damages award for
Plaintiff's actual loss. (D.l. 597 at 222; see alsoD.l. 578 at 7). As the Court has already
concluded the juryrendered that damages award based on alternative theories of liability, many
of which are upheldBecausehe Court has upheld tiery’s finding of liability on at least some
of Plaintiff's claims,thereby upholding the $6,000,000 aw#odactual lossthe Court declines to
reachDefendants’ separate arguments on convengtated damages

In sum, Defendants have failed to persuade the Court that the jaciisitloss
compensatorgamages awarnaf $6,000,000acks a sufficient evidentiatyasis. Finally, although
Defendants objected to unjust enrichment damages beisgudan the cas€D.l. 574 at 2), they
do not separately argue that the $1,013,000 in unjust enrichment damages lack a sufficient
evidentiary basis. Therefore, that award atsmds.

3. Punitive Damages oi€ommon-Law Claims ($24,000,000)

The jury awarded $24,000,000 in punitive damages based on Defendants’ liability for
unfair competition, tortious interference, conversion e conspiracy. (D.l. 578 at Bpe also
D.I. 575 (*You may only award punitive damages for the following counts: unfair competition,
tortious interference, conversion, and/or conspiracypDgfendants argue that the jury’s award of
punitive damage was ‘grossly excessivVeand therefore violates the Due Process Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendmen(D.l. 597at22; see also idat 27 (“While Defendants are not challenging

whether this extreme remedy is available atth#, factors discussed above all demonstrate that
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the jury’s punitive damageswvard is excessivend should be reducey).” Before turning to the
substance of thishallengethe Court must first address a procedissilie

Plaintiff asserts that this issue was not properly preserved in Defendantgrgiet
motion under Rulé0(a),andthat Defendants are improperly seekirgmittitur, which should
have beemroughtpursuant to Rule 5@nd it is now too late to do sofSeeD.l. 612 at 2425).
The Court disagrees. Defendants areamatllengingthe amount of punitive damag based on
the sufficiency of the evidence. Defendants are launching a constitutional challenganotime
of the punitive awardunder the Fourteenth Amendmght In the Third Circuit, when
constitutional consideratiomenderan awardexcessive, “the award is reduced as a matter of law”
and there is no Seventh Amendment right to a jury making findings ofGactez v. Trans Union,
LLC, 617 F.3d 688, 716 (3d Cir. 201@ge also Cooper Indus., Inc. v. Leatherman Tool Grp.,
Inc., 532 U.S. 424, 437 (2001) (“[T]he jury’s award of punitive damages does not constitute a
finding of ‘fact’ . . . .”). Because the award mayreduced as a matter of law on constitutional
grounds, the Cours$ not constrained by the requirements of Rulei®9 affording Plaintiffa new
trial). Rather when a court reduces a punitdamages award as unconstitutionally excessive, “a
court proceeds under Rule 50, not Rule 5¥hhansen v. Combustion Eng’gelnl70 F.3d 1320,
1331 (11h Cir. 1999); see also Cortez617 F.3d at 716 (citinglohansenwith approval)
Defendants’ constitutional challenge to the punitive awsttlisproperly the subject d@heir Rule
50(b) motion.*® The Court now turns to whether the $24,000,000 in punitive damages is excessive

and deprives Defendants of due process.

29 For this reason, Plaintiff's reliance étollockis largely inapplicable. Defendants are not
challenging the sufficiency of the evidence in support of the punitive award under
Pennsylvania law.

30 Defendants addressed punitive damages to the extent possible in their Rule 5@f) moti
and they are reaising punitive damages now under Rule 50(b). Defendants could not have
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“The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the impositioasby gr
excessive or arbitrary punishments on a tortfeasgtate Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell
538 U.S. 408, 48.(2003). The Supreme Court has provided three guideposissia determining
whether a punitivelamages award is unconstitutionally excessivél) the degree of
reprehensibility of the defendant’s misconduct; (2) the disparity between thé @acphaiential
harm suffered by the plaintiff and the punitive damages award; and (3) the défeetaeen the
punitive damages awarded by the jury and the civil penalties authorized or imposed irabdenpa
cases.”State Farm538 U.Sat418. The Court addresses these guideposts in turn.

a. Reprehensibility of Defendants’ Conduct

“[T] he most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages award is the
degree of reprehensibility of the defendambnduct. BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Goyé17 U.S.
559, 575 (1996). Indeethe reprehensibilityactor is so important to th@onstitutionalanalysis
that the Supreme Court has provided further guidance:

We have instructed courts to determine the reprehensibility of a
defendant by considering whethgt the harm caused was physical
as opposed to economif?] the tortious conduct evinced an
indifference to or a reckless disregard of the health or safety
others;[3] the target of the conduct had financial vulnerabili4y;

the conduct involved repeated actions or was an isolated incident;
and [9 the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery, or
deceit, or mere accident.. . The existence foany one of these
factors weighing in favor of a plaintiff may not be sufficient to
sustain a punitive damages award; and the absence of all of them
renders any award suspect

State Farm538 U.S.at 419 Defendants arguihat their conduct causetw physical harm to
Plaintiff nor demonstrated indifference disregard for the health or safaifyanyone (D.l. 597

at 23). Plaintiff does not contend tlegtherof these reprehensibility subfactors are in issue (D.l.

raised in their prererdict motion tis precise challengei.e., that the amount of punitive
damages is unconstitutionally excessiliecause the jury had not yet awarded an amount.
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612 at26-30), and the Court likewise finds that there is no evidence that Plé&mtéhyone else)
was physically harmed or that Defendants’ conduct demonstrated an smtifeor reckless
disregard for the health or safety of Plaintiff or othddefendardg also assert th&aintiff is not
financially vulnerabldgD.l. 597 at 23), and that too is supported by the evidence (and not dispute
by Plaintiff). (Segee.g, DTXb-747 at 34; PTXk821). These factors weigh in favor of Defendant
The last twosubfactors -+.e., whether Defendants’ conduct was isolated or a pattern of
conduct and whether Plaintiff’s harm was the result of intentional malice rtrickdeceit-weigh
in Plaintiff's favor, but not strongly.As to intentional malice, trickeryraeceitthere is evidence
of Defendants engaging in deceitful practices while aware that they were puttimgehhes and
Dr. Mir at risk. Defendantknewthat Dr. Mir was working with Plaintiff, that he was nervous
about his exposurand Defendants worked to help shield him from discovery from Plair&iéfe,(
e.g, Tr. at 127:910 (Court reading to the jury the stipulated fact that “Dr. Mir and Deawo to
pains to keep both the H2-F technology and their relationship a secret from AgroFresi?d;
also PTXa24 (“One key consideration foneeting away from a Decco location was to protect
[Dr. Mir] from exposure to more Decco folks (feow) than needed. Once AgroFresh learns of
his work with Decco, they will certainly cut him off ascansultant even beforf&ssentiv]is
formed?); see alsd®TXa23 (“[Dr. Mir] is nervous that AgroFresh will learn about his work with
Decco . . . We definitely needDr. Mir] and his IMCP patents/technology so we diowant him
to be tempted byhe AF checkbooK); PTXa-26 (“[Dr. Mir] is becoming very nervous of his
exposure. . . . Decco is also at riskP)I Xa77 (Or. Mir “will give up his contract once we sort
outNewCo"). Additionally, Defendants were aware that Plaintiff had exclusive customers in the
1-MCP market ad worked to target those customers (vatpnificantly discounted prices oa

product creategbartially by misappropriated trade secnets(See, e.g.PTXb-305; PTXb309;
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PTXb-1089) And Defendants celebrated the launch of TruPick with exclamationsefgthe
price tag of developmef@imost fre¢ and the likely problemiswould cause Plaintiff (SedPTXa
324 at MIR_8666 (“[P]lease break out the best champagne in preparation for a trueicelphrat
TruPick approval]. . . . [W]e did not conduct one single trial (think no money spent other tha[n]
my time and SciReg charges) for this approvhlknow your concern over expenses so this
approval was basically “free;"see alsdPTXa324 (“AgroFresh will be totally surprised by the
news of TruPick and their shareholders will ask AF leaders very tough questions about the
future.”); PTXa31 (“AF held at last one emergency meeting to disddssco/TruPick. . . . AF
will respond for sure . . . so we/Decco need to be quick to send our messag®mers.’)PTXb-
321 at DECC@B7470 Decco describing 20+ year effort by Plaintiff to develop novel
storage/ethyne ripening contrp). There isalso evidence that Defendants wantedtanget
Plaintiff's employeess well (SeePTXb-321 at 87471 (“Contract or hire eRF applicators and
key R&D personndbut only as needed)’) Faced with this evidence, it would be hard to conclude
that Defendantdid not act withsomeintentional malicetrickery or deceit

On the malice subfactohowever, lhe Courtdoesalso find it significant thathe story
largelychangedifterJudge Robinson issued her opinion in June 2017 declaring Plaintiff the owner
of the '216 Patent and related technologyter that Defendants decided to pull TruPick from the
marketanddissolve the Essentiv joint ventureSeeTr. at 761:3762:23 (Deco CEO testifying
that TruPick and Essentiv were abandoned because “at the end of June 2017, it wasedeterm
that the technology Dr. Mir had represented as his did, in fact, belong to [AgroFresddg.glso
Tr. at 944:236 (Plaintiff's expert testifyinghat it was his understanding TruPick was pulled after
Plaintiff determined to bewne of '216 Patent). In the Court’s view, thisvidencedemonstrates

that Defendants haat leastsome concern for the rights of Plaintiff am$pect fothe law Thus
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although Defendants engagedsmometrickery and deceit, they also discontinued this behavior
once it was apparent thtteir conductinfringed Plaintiff's rights Thus, this subfactor favors
Plaintiff, but not as much as if Defendants had continued ttweiductin the face ofJudge
Robinson’s ruling.

On therecidivismsubfactoy “[t] he Supreme Court has examined a defenglaatidivist
behavior as it relates to ngrarties, not to plaintiffs. Jurinko v. Med. Protective Co305 F.
App'x 13, 26 (3d Cir. 2008). As explained Jarinko, althoughthe Supreme Court “has not
considered whether the conduct at issue in a single case can also demonstrateaatdefend
recidivism” the Third Circuit has found repeated conduct towards thelyplaintiff at issue to be
relevant but afforded less weighiid.; see also CGB Occupational Therapy, Inc. v. RHA Health
Servs., InG.499 F.3d 184, 191 (3d Cir. 2007) (“[W]hile the ‘repeated conduct’ subfactor will
necessarily have ‘less force’ where the defendant’s misconduct did not extend beyaeealihgs
with the plaintiff, it may still be ‘relevant’ in measuring the reprehensibility of tHendant's
conduct, based on the particular facts and circumstances presented.” (§uitdonginn, Inc. v.
Pub. Serv. Mut. Ins. C0399 F.3d 224, 2333 (3d Cir.2005). Here, there is no evidence that
Defendants engaged in the conduct set forth above towards other persons obanhufiesn the
numerous examplebe Court hasdentified Defendants’ conduct is not properly considered an
isolated incident Indeed,Defendants engaged this type ofbehaviorrepeatedly- just only
directed towards PlaintiffThus the recidivism subfactor weighs in favor of Plaintiff luith less
forcethan if Defendants had conducted themselves similarly towards others.

b. Disparity Between Plaintiffs Harm and the Punit&eard

The second of th&tate Farmguidepostdooks at the disparity between the actual or

potential harm to Plaintiff and the punitive awa#t.this step, the Court evaluates the ratio of the
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awards forpunitive and compensatory damages to determine whethematheunt of punitive
damages isinconstitutionally excessive. Here, the ratio of punitive to compensatory damages is
4:1. Although the Supreme Court has declined “to impose a Hmghtatio which a punitive
damages award cannot excgedingledigit ratios are more likely to be constitutionally
permissible and gunitive award that exceeds the 4dtio “might be close to the line of
constitutional impropriety. State Farm 538 U.S.at 425 In determining the constitutionally
permissibleratio, “courts must ensure that the measure of punishment is both reasonable and
proportionate to the amount of harm to the plaintiff and to the general damages retohkerad.
426. The Supreme Court has cautioned, however, ‘fagdhen compensatory damages are
substantial, then a lesser ratio, perhaps only equal to compensatory damages, hcdimereac
outermost limit of the due process guararitdd. at 425.

Here,the $6,000,000 compensatory damages award that Plalttfhedvas substantial
Defendants’ TruPick product was on the market for a single sedssn than a full year with
total United States sales of roughly $500,0@e€e]r. at 76112-762:8 & 1066:4L7; DTXb-512).
Plaintiffs damages theory was based on the contention dtian afterTruPick’s withdrawal,
Plaintiff continued to suffer harm from price erosion in what it could charge for its eMGHR
product. The junyflikely agreed awarding Plaintiff $6,000,000 in actuask damageéwvhich
exceedednerely lost salet TruPicK. The Court is not disturbing that finding, btiis hard to
dispute that the amount of compensation Plaintiff received for the hsuffesedwas quite
substantialand indeedPlaintiff doesnot argue otherwise). In light of this, tB®urtagrees that

theratio of 4:1 in this case is excessivEhis guidepost favors a reduced award.
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(o} Civil Penalties in Comparable Cases

The thirdof the State Farmguidepostsnvites an inquiry into the diffrence between the
punitive damages and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparableefeesiants
cite several statutes allowing fdouble or treble damages when defendant has engaged in unfair
business practices. (D.l. 597 at2B (citing73 Px. STAT. ANN. 8§ 2019.2 (unfair trade practices);
12 Pr. CON. STAT. ANN. § 5304(b) PUTSA); 18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(3)(CPISA); 35 U.S.C.
§ 284)) Defen@ntsargue thaeven trebling the jury’s compensatory damages award does not
reach the $24,000,000 amount of punitive damages awarded, suggesting that the award is
constitutionally excessive. (D.l. 597 at 2¥).

Where, as here, punitive damagesax@rded on only commelaw tort claims, the third
guideposis less helpful. See, e.g.Brand Mktg. Grp. LLC v. Intertek Testing Servs., NIAc.,
801 F.3d 347, 363 (3d Cir. 2015) (“The District Court did not, and we will not, address the third
consideation, as it would be unhelpful because there are not comparable cases with citdgpenal
for negligent misrepresentation©GB Occupational Therapyl99 F.3dat 188 (agreeing with
district court that third guidepost not instructive in case where $30 million in punitvegies
awarded on tortious interference clajimter Med. Supplies, Ltd. v. EBI Med. $ysc., 181 F.3d
446, 468 (3d Cir.1999) (third guidepost “unhelpful” in case involving tortious interference and
related common law tort claimsee alsaCont’| Trend Res., Inc. v. OXY USA Int01 F.3d 634,

641 (10th Cir. 1996) (“OXY’s misconduct involved a violation of common law tort duties that do

31 Defendants cite to PUTSA and the DTSA, the Patent Act and another Pennsybfaitéa st
but here punitive damages were only awarded on the corawmomlaims of unfair
competition, intentional interference, conversion and/or civil conspiracy. The Cagsagr
that these statutes suggest that the punttaraages award is excessive because the statutes
permit enhancement for willful or malicious conduct only up to two or three times the
amount of compensatory damages — not four times (like here).
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not lend themselves to a comparison with statutory penaltiegtilis, the Court finds that this
factor favors neither side.

In sum, under the appropriate analysis guided by the relevant factors articulated by the
Supreme Court, this Court concludes that the jury’s award of $24,000,000 in punitive damages is
unconstitutonally excessiveand violates Defendantslue process rights under the Fourteenth
Amendment In the Court’s view, there is no doubt that Defendants engagednietrickery and
deceitful practices for some amount of time and those practices causedrhdo Plaintiff. But
that harm to Plaintiff was an economic hatona financially secure compangnd Defendants
ceased their conduct once a court issued a ruling that determined cghtsrheld by Plaintiff
And the jury awarded Plaintiff $6,000,000 compensatory damagesnawardthatis certainly
substantial for the harm that Plaintiff suffereld. light of the substantial compensatory damages
award and the modest reprehensibility on the part of the Defendants, the Court findsltinaiio
is the maximum permitted by the Constitution in this caSse Jurinkp305 F. App’x at 30
(“Medical Protective’s conduct does not justify so high an award in light of the modegree
of reprehensibility, the substantial compensatory award, and the large dispavégréhe award
and civil penalties under § 1171. . .. Accordingly, we will reduce the award to reflect &adl.*};ra
see alsad. at 28 (reducing ratio from 3.13:1 to 1Where the$1,658,345compensatory damages
were substardi, plaintiff only suffered economic harm, the harm was easily measured and
defendant’s actions were egregious butlikety particularly egregioys

Therefore, the jury award of $24,000,000 in punitive damages will be reduced to

$6,000,000.
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l. Plaintiff's Request foEnhanced Damages

Plaintiff asks the Court to enhance the damages awarded for trade secretoprsappr
under the DTSA and PUTS®. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks an additional $14,026,000 in
exemplary damages because Defendarade secret misappropriation was willful and malicious.
(SeeD.l. 588 at 1)

Both the DTSA and PUTSA provide that, in cases of willful and malicious
misappropriation, the Court may award additional exemplary damages in an amount notdo excee
doublethe damages awardeel8 U.S.C. 81836(b)(3)(C) (“[1]f the trade secret is willfully and
maliciously misappropriated, award exemplary damages in an amount not more thantBdimes
amount of the damages awarded under subparagraph (B) . . .PA,QaN. STAT. ANN. 8§ 5304(b)

(“If willful and malicious misappropriation exists, the court may award exemplamages in an
amount not exceeding twice any award made under subsection (a).”). That Deferddimms’ a
are found to be willful and malicious, hove, does not necessarily mean that exemplary damages
must follow. See Estate of Accurso v. Infra-Red Servs., 805 F. App’x 95, 107 (3d Cir. 2020)
(“We see no reason to hold that the District Court abused its discretion whered d#@nrneys’
feesand punitive damages. Although the jury found Accurso’s misappropriation was willful and
malicious, [PUTSA] does not call for awarding punitive damages on that finding aldhe.”).

Whether to award exemplary damages is committed to the Court’s discrgge id.In

exercising that discretion to determine whether to award exemplary damages uh8ey, Balrts

32 Plaintiff also requests that the Court enhance damages awarded for patent infringement
(SeeD.I. 587 & 588). Because the Court has found that Defendants are entitled to judgment
as a matter of law of no patent infringement, the Court declines to reach Paintif
arguments on enhancement of patrefated damages.

33 The parties focus on cases addressing exemplary damages under PUTSA (or other state
adopted versions of the Uniform Trade Sexwitt), and neither side argues that the
analysis would be different under the DTSA. Therefore, the Court proceeds similarly.
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have considered the duration of misappropriative conduct, the defendant’s consciousness of
resulting injury and any efforts to cover up malfeasarsee Advanced Fluid Sys., Inc. v. Hyber
295 F. Supp. 3d 467, 493 (M.D. Pa. 2018) (citations omitted). Here, the Court has upheld the
jury’s finding of willful and malicious misappropriatiosde supra Ill. A.5), butthe Courtwill
consider the other factors in determining whether enhancement is appropriate.

Turning to the duration of the conduct, Plaintiff cites to scant evidence to support its
argument that Defendahtsonduct continued over several years. In its openirgf, BRlaintiff
cites to just two pages of a deposition transcript (and generally to the entire dod¢ket Hazel
litigation). (D.l. 588 at 9). Plaintiff then offers attorney argument about U&titésnpted (but
unsuccessful) bid to purchase the AgraRrbusiness to argue that there was “a calculated,-multi
year scheme to misappropriate AgroFresh’s trade secretsl.). (Plaintiff's conclusion is
unsupported by evidence. Although the fact that UPL put in a bid to buy AgroFresh is in the record
(Tr. & 754:16758:4;see alsd®TXb-484), there is no evidence as to how this relates to Defendants’
misappropriative conduct. And Plaintiff offers no explanation as to how this eventttiedet
alone sets into motion the misappropriation of the tradecsets asserted hereSgeD.l. 588 at
9). Indeed, there is no indication that these (or any of Plaintiff's) tradets@ere communicated
as part of that bid process and, in fact, UPL’s general counsel explained that only al“gener
overview” of Plaintiff's business was shared. (Tr. at 75553:23)3* And as to the litigation
involving Hazel (D.I. 588 at 9), the Court finds this irrelevant to the issue of whetferdaats’

trade secret misappropriation was of protracted duration. On the present record, tha<oar

34 Plaintiff's counsel may have argued otherwise to the jseelr. at 1320:211321:7), but
the Court does not find that argument persudsere.
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evidence that Defendants disclosed any of Plaintiff's trade secrets to HazdlBetbhndants had
any role in the design of Hazel's product.

In its reply brief, on duration of conduct, Plaintiff gte®d two emails and Dr. Mir’s
admission at trial. (D.l. 605 at 7). The emails support an inference that Defendesntsorking
with Dr. Mir on misappropriated technology on more than one occasion, but the time period
covered by the emails is six monthise., from July 2015 to JanuaB016. SeePTXa23; PTXa
180). In any event, even assuming that Plaintiff could put forth the effort and identify evidenc
suggesting a longer period of misappropriative conduct, that would not chan@ouhis
conclusons as texemplary damages. Indeed, the Court takes note that Defendants ceased their
conduct once Judge Robinson determined that Plaintiff was the owner of the '216 Patent and
related IMCP technology. SeeTr. at 761:3762:23 (Decco CEO testifying that TruPick and
Essentiv were abandoned because “at the end of June 2017, it was determined tiatdlogye
Dr. Mir had represented as his did, in fact, belong to [AgroFresdg®;alsdlr. at 944:23-6).

Turning to Defendants’ consciousness of Plaintiff's injury resulting from their
misappropriation, there is evidence that Defendants were aware of (or indifégréne fact their
conduct was wrongful and would cause harm to Plaintiff. Indeed, Dr. Oakes and iMw&ie
aware that Dr. Mir had cordctual obligations with Plaintiff but deliberately chose not to
investigate the scope of those obligations or inquire furthBee,(e.qg.Tr. at 589:119; Tr. at
724:721). Plaintiff provided Defendants with relevant language from those contracts in 2016 but
Defendants decided to launch TruPick anyway later that y&aeT(. at 738:1624, 740:47 &
771:17772:1). Thus, at the very least, there is evidence that Defendants buried their heads in the
sand when it came to Dr. Mir and thus Plaintiff's rights. And using a product that piggybacked

off of some of Plaintiff's trade secrets, Defendants launched a marketmgaigm that targeted
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some of Plaintiff's exclusive customersSeg, e.g.PTXb-305; PTXb309; PTXB1089;see also
PTXa31l; PTXb346; PTXB353). In fact, Defendants delighted in the approval of their product
and how it might frustrate Plaintiff's busines§eg, e.gPTXa324 at MIR_8666; PTX&81). At
the same time, Defendants were pursuing a legitimate busiesssi- developing a competitive
1-MCP product- and TruPick was not simply a copy of Plaintiff's SmartFresh created solely by
trade secret misappropriatidh. Rather, TruPick employed a different carrier for tABIQP
(magnesium formate) as comparedStoartFresh (a-cyclodextrin). CompareTr. at 358:110,
with Tr. at 445:21446:4 & 507:1522;see alsdr. at 585:5586:6). And there was some evidence
that Defendants performed independent studies on that product and invested resources in the
project. (See, e.qg.Tr. at 581:17, 600:519 & 752:255). In the Court’s view, this suggests that,
although Defendants misappropriated trade secrets, they were also motivated bjtioorapeit
used some legitimate means to develop their TruPick pro@ssAdvanced Fluid 295 F. Supp.
3d at 494 (competitive motives relevant in declining to award exemplary dgmages

On whether Defendants engaged in a caygrthere is evidence of one here. Defendants
were nervous about their work with Dr. Mir, and Defendants were nervous about the likely
exposure from continuing that workSde, e.g.PTXa24 (“One key consideration for meeting
away from a Decco location was to protect [Dr. Mir] from exposure to moreddelks (for now)
than needed. Once AgroFresh learnkisfwork with Decco, they will certainly cut him off as a
consultant even before [Essentiv] is formedsge alsoPTXa23 (“[Dr. Mir] is nervous that
AgroFresh will learn about his work with Decco . . . . We definitely need [Di.aWd his IMCP

patent&echnology so we don’t want him to be tempted by the AF checkbook.”); R&X4Dr.

35 Defendants knew that the expiration of tley B-MCP patent opened the market up to such

lawful competition. $ee, e.qg.Tr. at 742:2-24, 758:15-59:10 & 1030:18-1032:13).
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Mir] is becoming very nervous of his exposure. . . . Decco is also at risk.”)). Not enty w
Defendants mindful of the exposure, but they also took steps to keepetagonship with Dr.

Mir a secret. $e€elr. at 127:910 (stipulated fact that “Dr. Mir and Decco took pains to keep both
the M-O-F technology and their relationship a secret from AgroFresb®alsd®TXa24; PTXa

23; PTXa26). Itis reasonable to infer from this evidence that Defendants hid their cdilabora
with Dr. Mir because they suspected there was something untoward about their work Wth D

(and the knowledge he brought to their project). But again, it is noteworthy that Defendants
revered course when the legal landscape became clear. Defendants abandoned TruPick when
confronted with the judicially sanctioned reality that Plaintiff was the ownireg216 Patent and
related TIMCP technology (and that Dr. Mir had been violating his r@titial obligations to
Plaintiff). Thus, although Defendants attempted to conceal their conduct for a pennd, of is
significant that that coveup did not continue beyond Judge Robinson’s ruling.

Plaintiff also argues that exemplary damages raeessary to deter Defendants from
engaging in similar conduct in the future (D.l. 588 atl#3, but the Court is unpersuaded.
Although not awarded on the trade secret claims, Defendants are already subjéghifcans
punitive damages awardSé¢esupra8 Ill. H.3). This punitive award was based on conduct that
has some relation to the conduct that gave rise to Defendants’ misappropriatidy Habig,
interfering with Plaintiff's customer contracts with a product paytiedsed on misappropted
trade secrets. In the Court’s view, exemplary damages will not add any figteerent beyond
that achieved by the significant punitive damages award. Moreover, Defendants already cea
the offending conduct once Judge Robinson issued her rédiniger suggesting that additional

deterrence is unnecessary.
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Finally, Plaintiff asserts that Defendants engaged in litigation misconduairidwerf
support for an award of exemplary damageéeeD.l. 588 at 67 & 12-13). Defendants respond
thatit was Plaintiff who engaged in misconducgeéD.l. 594 at 57). To the extent that Plaintiff
is referring to Defendants’ attempts to cover up their misdoings, the Court hassadtthat
already. To the extent that the parties are simply rehashing pretrial and discepatggineither
side has cited any support for the proposition that litigation conduct is a relevant factusitec
in the exemplandamages inquiry and, as such, the Court will not take it into account in reaching
its conclusio.

That being saidthe Court will endhis discussiomwhere it beganhe opinion This case
was bitterly fought and fueled on both sides byvill and hard feelings. The result was a case
that was ovetitigated— sometimesunprofessionally ‘with both sides sharg fault. Defendants
were often less than forthcoming with discoveegulting in an excess of discovery motions being
filed. But Plaintiff's conduct was hardly without blemish. Indeed, throughout most of this
litigation and despite repeated warnings, Plaintiff resisted articulatimy imaaningful way the
trade secrets that Defendants allegedly misappropriated, thereby depriféenglds of, among
other things, the ability to assess the merits of the clbéimg assertedgainst them (See, e.g.

D.l. 335, 409,503,505 & 556;see alsoD.l. 549 at 117:10429:25; D.I. 535 at 58:54:1§.
Similarly, Plaintiff contributed substantially to the caustic nature of theepaings. For example,
Plaintiff's counsellambasted Dr. Oakes and Defendants’ attorney during the Oakes deposition,
saying he was there to prove that the witness is a “fraud,” accusing Defendantsygehbeatig
“fraudsters” and threatening criminal action:

Raj, you're completely wrong on that. You don’t understand the
basics of our contract claim, number one. Number two, you don’t
understand the basis of our fraud claim. These are fraudsters. We're
gonna -this man is a fraud and I'm saying it for the record and we're
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going to prove it. He's fraud and I'm saying it for the record and
we’re going to prove it.

Everything that these men did is in a conspiracy to steal from us and
we’re going to prove that.

So don't tell me, Raj, that this is not related to Counts 1 and 4. It's
absolutely the core of both of them.

These fraudsters are going to come to justice here and what they’ve
done is a violation of criminal law as well as civil law and we're
making our record and we’re going to make sure that criminal law
record and civil law record madeite today and is made next week.

(D.I. 51913 at pg. 65 of 26Xee also idat pgs. 656 of 262). This conduct was apparently a
regular enough occurrence that Defendants filed a motitimiime to prevent similar behavior at
trial. (See generallp.l. 51913 at pgs. 5223 of 262). Thus, although the Court is not convinced
thatlitigation conduct is relevant to exemplary damages, if it were, Plaintiffgibation to the
inappropriate litighon behavioiin this casevould weigh against exemplary damages.

In sum, although Defendants willfully and maliciously misappropriated certaile tra
secrets held by Plaintiff, the Court does not believe Defendants’ conduct waaxantplary
damages. Dehdants did engage in subterfuge and were at least deliberately indifferent to
Plaintiff's rights, but Defendants were also pursuing a legitimate businessintetheir TruPick
product. Moreover, once it became clear that Plaintiff owned the releM6P technology and
that Dr. Mir was not free to work with Defendants as he had represented, De$epdied
TruPick from the market and dissolved the Essentiv joint ventuneler these circumstances, the

Court declines to award exemplary damages utieDTSA and PUTSAS

36 The Court has considered all factors advancedPlantiff to supportan award of
exemplary damagess well as those offered Iyefendantsn opposition, even if not
explicitly addressed in this opinion.
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J. Plaintiff's Request for Preand Postiudgment Interest

Plaintiff requests prejudgment interest for #c00Q000 compensatory damages awarded
for patent infringement, trade secret misappropriation (under both the DTSA and R Wihta4)
competition, intentional interference with MirTech agreements and busidatisnghip and
intentional interference with customer contracts, conversion and civil conspirgSeeD.|. 589
at1). Plaintiff also requests prejudgment interest on th@#3000 in compensatory damages for
unjust enrichment resultinfrom trade secret misappropriatidunder both the DTSA and
PUTSA). (Id.). Defendantslo not dispute thgirejudgment interest shoule awarded for the
compensatory damages. (D.l. 598 at 3 nHjere is a dispute, however, as to whether the Court
should apply the prime rate compounded quarterly, as Plaintiff proposes (D.l. 589 at 3), which
ranged from 3.25 to 5.0% during the relevant pergseD.l. 590 at 6)*8 or whether the Court
should instead apply the Treasury bill ratenpounded quarterlyhere that rateanged between
0.22 and 2.59% during the relevant time persxkD.l. 598 at 5-6see also id.Ex. 2 at 5.

Prejudgment interest is awarded to restore a plaintiff to the position it would revénbe
had there been no wrongdoin§eeGeneral Motors Corp. v. Devex Corg61 U.S. 648, 6556
(1983) see also Delaware River & Bay Auth. v. Kopab24 F.3d 622, 634 (3d Cir. 2009)
(prejudgment interest awards “must be compensatory rather than punitiidie matter of

prejudgment interest is left to the discretion of the district codraXman v. Bd. of Educ. of Twp.

37 Plaintiff also requests interest on any enhanced amounts but the Court has declined to

enhance damagesSde supr& lll.1).

38 Plaintiff also regests prejudgment interest under the Delaware statutory rate, whséh is “

over the Federal Reserve discount rate including any surcharge as of the time ftbm whi
interest is due.” (D.l. 589 at 2 (quotingD&L. C. 8§ 2301(a))). Plaintiff has cited no
auhority in this District to support applying this rate. Moreover, Plaintiff's dtatetrade

secret claims were brought under Pennsylvania law, not Delaware law. Thus, the Court
declines to apply the Delaware statutory rate for prejudgment interest.
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of Piscataway91 F.3d 1547, 1566 (3d Cir. 1996)his broad discretion, of course, extends to a
determination ofthe appropriate interest rate to applypee, e.g.Sun Ship, Inc. v. Matson
Navigation Co, 785 F.2d 59, 63 (3d Cir. 1986) (“In federal question cases, the rate of prejudgment
interest is committed to the discretion of the district couttifjyoyal, Inc. v. RudkifWiley Corp,

939 F.2d 1540, 1545 (Fed. Cir. 1991).

As requested by Plaintiff, the Cowvill assesprejudgment interest compounded quarterly

at the primeate See, e.glIn re Frescati Shipping Cp886 F.3d 291, 315 (3d Cir. 2018) (district
court within its discretion to award prejudgment inteegterat the prime rate or pegidgment
rate pescribed by 28 U.S.C. § 1961(a3ge alsoraxman 91 F.3dat 1566(“The adjusted prime
rate, established periodically by the Secretary of the Treasury and codified in.26 & 6621,
has been used regularly by district courts to calculate prejudgment intesest.dlIscAmgen Inc.
v. Hospira, Inc. 336 F. Supp. 3d 333, 364 (D. Del. 2018) (for patent damages, awarding
prejudgment interest at the prime rate compounded quartaffig, 944 F.3d 1327 (Fed. Cir.
2019). The prime rate is by far the most common practice in the District of Dela3ee, e.g.
Bayer v.Baxalta No. 16 1122RGA, 2019 WL 4016235, at *7 (D. Del. Aug. 26, 201@)enix
Pharm. LLC v. Gilead Scis., InQ71 F. Supp. 3d 694, 705 (D. Del. 201@ymcast IP Holdings
I, LLC v. Sprint Commc’ns CoNo. 120205RGA, 2015 WL 4730899, at *10 (D. Del. Aug. 10,
2015);Ateliers de la Haut&aronne v. Broetje AutomatiddSA Inc, 85 F. Supp. 3d 768, 783 (D.
Del. 2015);Dow Chem. Co. v. Nova Chems. Cofgo. 05737LPS, 2014 WL 1285508, at *11
(D. Del. Mar. 28, 2014)XpertUniverse, Inc. v. Cisco Sysacl No. 09157RGA, 2013 WL
6118447, at *11 (D. Del. Nov. 20, 2013).

The Court declines to apply the Treasury bill rate as requested by Detendaféndants

assert that, during the damages period, Plaintiff was in “investing mode” (D.It 598rad here
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is no evidence that Plaintiff “was in a borrowing mode or would have used the damagéds a
(had it been received during the damages period) to avoid ddkdt 6). Firstjt is not necessary

for Plaintiff to “demonstrate that it borrowed at the prime rate in order to be entitled to prejudgment
interest at that rate.Baxaltg 2019 WL 4016235, at *7 (quotingniroyal, 939 F.2dat 1545) see

also In re Frescati Shipping Cp886 F.3d at 314 (“[H]ad the District Court chosen to use the
prime rate, i would not have abused its discretion even without extensive proof of borrowing
costs.”); Idenix 271 F. Supp. 3d at 705 (citingpertUniverse 2013 WL 6118447, at *)1
Moreover,there is evidence th&tlaintiff would have used additional funds during the relevant
time period to pay down its debt rather than to make further investifsaeD.l. 603). Therefore,

the Court is not persuaded that the Treasury bill rate should be applied in this case.

On the question of when thmejudgmeninterest begins to accrue on the $1,013,000 in
unjust enrichment damages, the Cotaihnot agree with Plaintiff (CompareD.l. 589 at 3
(November 30, 201 proper start date according to Plaintif)th D.l. 598 at 78 (May 11, 2016
is proper start date according to Defendgnts As the Supreme Court has explained,
“[p]rejudgment interest serves to compensate for the loss of use of money dueagesfnom
the time the claim accrues until judgment is enterdu.”Virginia v. United Stateg79 U.S. 305,
311 n.2 (1987)see alsdVilliam A. Graham Co. v. Haughe§46 F.3d 138, 1487 (3d Cir. 2011)
Plaintiff asserts that Defendants’ traskecret wrongdoings begavhenDefendants and Dr. Mir
signed a letter of intenit ¢., November 30, 2014)SeeD.l. 589 at 3; D.l. 602 at 5). In Defendants’
view, July 2016 ighe more accurate date for accraalbegin because that is when Defendants
became aware of the terms of Plaintiff’'s agreement with the MirTech Defend&etD.I. 598

at 7 (quoting Tr. at 738:16-21)).

58



Case 1:16-cv-00662-MN Document 639 Filed 11/30/20 Page 60 of 61 PagelD #: 26741

Neither sidgooints to recor@vidence as to when the trade secret misappropriation causes
of action actuallypbegan to accrue against Defendamsderthe DTSA or PUTSA but Plaintiff
bears thdrunt of this failue. As the Third Circuit has explained, “a prevailing party moving for
an award of prejudgment interest must provide the district court with sufficiemtmiafion to
calculate the interest.’Leonard v. Stemtecimt’| Inc., 834 F.3d 376, 398 (3d Ci2016). The
jury’s verdict gives no indication as to when Defendants first became liable undexdihsécret
misappropriation causes of action @idintiff has failed to persuade the Court that the date of its
DTSA and PUTSA claims began to accrue mvémber30, 2014. A a result of this failure, the
Court finds that the start date for accrual on the unjust enrichdaenagess the date the
Complaint was filed-i.e., August 3, 2016 Cf. Esprit Health, LLC v. Univ. of Delawar&lo. 13-
1385RGA, 2015 WL 9305644, at *2 (D. Del. Dec. 21, 2015) (because it was “unclear at what
exact point in time the jury found Defendant’s liability,” the court found that prejudgmtengst
should begin to accrue “from the date [the] Complaint wad™jileThus, the prejudgment interest
on the $1,013,000 in unjust enrichment damages shall begin to accrue on August 3, 2016.

In sum, thgudgment shall be amend&do includeprejudgment interest at the prime rate
compounded quarterly for the $7,013,0@0npensatory damages and, for plogtion that is the
$1,013,000 in unjust enrichmedamagesthat prejudgmentinterest shall begin to accrue on

August 3, 2016°

39 Regardless of how a party styles it, a request fergrpostjudgment interest is a motion
to alter or amend the judgment under Rule 5988e Osterneck v. Ernst & Whinné$9
U.S. 169, 175 (1989) (“[A] postjudgment motion for discretionary prejiegrmterest
constitutes a motion to alter or amend the judgment under Rule 59(e).”).

40 The parties shall submit a joint proposed amended judgment to reflect these amounts,
particularly given that there is no calculation before the Court using thesntates and
start date deemed appropriate.
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Finally, postjudgment interest is mandatory for damagesrded in civil case See
28U.S.C. § 1961(a) (“Interest shall be allowed on any money judgment in a civil case rdcovere
in a district court.”).Consistent wittg 1961 (a), the rajgroposedy Plaintiff is the weekly average
oneyear constant maturity Treasury yield for the week preceding entry of jud@reerit.59%)

(SeeD.1. 589at 5. Defendants do not dispute that Plaintiff is entitled to-pagment interest or

that the rate uskby Plaintiff is proper. Therefore, Plaintiffshall be awarded pogtidgment
interestcalculated using that rate and starting from the date judgment on the jury verslict wa
entered(i.e., October 30, 2019) Postjudgment interest shall keewvarded for th entire amount
included in the judgment, including prejudgment intereSiee Skretvedt v. E.l. DuPont De
Nemours 372 F.3d 193, 217 (3d Cir. 2004)0 be clearhowever, posjudgment interest on the
prejudgment interest award does not begin to accrue until the amended judgment quantifying the
prejudgment interest is enterefee Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Ins. Co. of N, 869 F.3d 143,

175 (3d Cir. 2010) (“[P]osiudgment interest on Travelers’ award of prejudgment interest did not
begin to run until the December 5, 2007 order was entered quantifying the amount in prejudgment
interest owed to Travelers.”).

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ renemetion for judgment as a matter of law
(D.I. 596) is GRANTED-IN-PART and DENIEDBIN-PART, Plaintiff’'s motiors for enhanced
damages(D.l. 587) is DENIED and Plaintiff's motiorior pre and posjudgment interest

(D.1. 589 is GRANTED asmodified by theatesin this opinion An appropriate order will follow.
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